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Inventory 
The following properties are included in the historic district: 
 
WEST 5TH STREET BETWEEN TENNESSEE AND OHIO STREETS—NORTH SIDE 
 
1. John Studebaker Residence, 444 (446) Ohio St., circa 1869, non-contributing. 
The one and a half story, cross gable, brick Folk House National dwelling sits on a rusticated 
stone foundation. The gable roof porch with a curved underside supported by brackets projects 
over the entrance. A central brick chimney pierces the roof. Clapboards sheathe the east 
projecting gable end. A one-story gable addition on a concrete foundation projects from east 
elevation. A flat roof garage sheathed with clapboards projects from the façade. A gable roof 
wall dormer containing a set of French doors projects from the façade roof above the garage. A 
concrete driveway leads from the public street to the garage. A concrete walk leads from the 
driveway to three concrete porch steps. 
 
John Studebaker was the owner of record when a significant increase in property value occurred 
in 1869. In 1868/69 John Studebaker (Blood, Studebaker &Co.) was residing at the corner of 
Ohio and Penn (5th) Street. The dwelling was recorded in the 1873 Douglas County Atlas under 
the ownership of G.W. Bowers. George W. Bowers (foreman, Journal World Office) was listed 
as residing on the NE corner of Penn & Ohio in 1875/76. Howard Henderson (mnfg. Harness & 
Saddles, 623 Mass.) and H.C. Henderson (clk. 623 Mass.) were listed at 446 Ohio in 1893/94. 
Howard Henderson and his wife Ada B. were listed from 1908/09 until 1929/30. The dwelling 
was recorded on the 1927 Sanborn Map. H.W. Sherman was issued a building permit (#0303) on 
8/22/1956 for a back porch addition. On 1/23/1984 Ed Sheurick was issued a building permit 
(#19858) to remodel the dwelling. Patterson Construction was issued a building permit (#89-
3098) for a remodeling and an addition on 8/22/1989. 
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2. Lathrop B. Read Residence, 445 Tennessee St., circa 1914, non-contributing. 
The one story, front-gable, frame Craftsman dwelling sits on a concrete block foundation. A 
gable porch projects from the center of the façade. Tapered piers on larger rusticated stone piers 
support the front porch. Brick chimneys are located in the center of house and on the north 
elevation. The house is clad in asbestos siding and has exposed rafter tails under the eaves. A flat 
roofed addition projects from the north elevation. A concrete walk leads from the public 
sidewalk to four concrete porch steps. 
 
W. Shaw was the owner of record when a significant increase in property tax value occurred in 
1914. Lathrop B. Read (carrier, P.O.) was listed at this address in 1915 and 1917. In 1919 L.B. 
Read, his wife Ella Read and Lathrop B. Read, Jr. (student) were residing at this location. From 
1923 to 1930, only L.B. Read and his wife Ella were listed as residents of 445 Tenn. The 
dwelling was recorded on the 1927 Sanborn Map. 
 
500 BLOCK OF TENNESSEE STREET—WEST SIDE 
 
3. Charles C. & Margaret M. Seevir Residence, 501 Tennessee St., circa 1916, contributing. 
The two and a half story, front-gable, frame Prairie dwelling sits on a rusticated stone 
foundation. A full width gable porch supported by wood piers spans the façade. Clapboards, with 
endcaps, sheathe the dwelling and shingles sheathe the gable ends. Wide overhanging boxed 
eaves mark the roof-wall junction. The cornice returns in the gable ends. A concrete walk leads 
from the public sidewalk to four wood steps. 
 
The property was recorded as unimproved in the 1873 Atlas of Douglas Co. There was no listing 
for this address in the 1911 or 1915 city directory. Charles C. and Margaret M. Seevir were listed 
as owners in 1916 when there was a significant increase in the property tax value. Charles C. 
Seevir (postmaster) and his wife Margaret M. were listed as residing at this location in 1917 and 
1919. In 1923 Oral C. Clingman (lawyer, Merchant Nat’l Bank) and his wife Clara W. were 
listed as residents. From 1925 until 1930 Charles Seevir and his wife Margaret Seevir were listed 
as residents of 501 Tennessee. Charles was also listed as the owner from 1925 to 1930. The 
dwelling was recorded on the 1927 Sanborn Map. 
 
3a. Garage, 501 Tennessee St., circa 1920, contributing.  
One story, end-gable, shiplap joint siding garage is located on SW corner of lot. A shed roof 
carport projects from north elevation. Entrance is located in west elevation. 
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4. George E. & Elizabeth B. Young Residence, 505 Tennessee St., circa 1915, contributing. 
The two and a half story, front-gable, frame Prairie dwelling sits on a rusticated stone 
foundation. A full width, hipped porch supported by tapered columns on brick piers spans the 
façade and extends beyond the dwelling to the south. A cross gable projects from the north end 
of the porch over the porch steps. Exposed rafter tails are present under the porch roof eaves and 
a brick chimney runs up the south elevation. Non-historic shed dormers project from north and 
south roof slopes. Clapboards sheathe the first story and shingles sheathe the second story. A 
concrete walk leads from the public sidewalk to four concrete porch steps. 
 
This property was recorded as unimproved in the 1873 Atlas of Douglas Co. A significant 
increase in property tax value occurred in 1915 when Elizabeth B. Young was the owner of 
record. George E. Young and his wife Elizabeth were listed as residing at 505 Tenn. in 1915. In 
1915 and 1919 Mrs. Elizabeth B. Young (widow of Geo.) was listed at this location. The 
dwelling and garage were recorded on the 1927 Sanborn Map. In 1923 and 1929/30 Charles B. 
Young and his wife Laura V. were listed as residing at this location. On 7/19/1983 Kevin Henry 
was issued a building permit (#1922) to remodel the dwelling’s attic. Douglas Co. Wood 
Products was issued a building permit (#15321) on 8/16/1979 to remodel the dwelling. 
 
4a. Garage, 505 Tennessee St., circa 1925, contributing. 
A one story, end-gable, brick and shingle garage is located in the SW corner of property. The 
entrance is located in the east elevation. 
 
5. Benjamin J. Horton Residence, 509 Tennessee St., circa 1871, contributing. 
The two story, front-gable, frame Folk House National dwelling sits on a rusticated stone 
foundation. A full width, hipped roof porch supported by Tuscan columns spans the façade. 
Clapboards, with endcaps, sheathe the dwelling. The cornice returns in the gable ends and a shed 
roof bay projects from the north elevation. A concrete walk leads from the public sidewalk to 
three concrete porch steps. 
 
A significant increase in property tax valuation occurred here in 1870. A listing for Benjamin J. 
Horton (atty., 79 Mass.) first appeared in 1871 with a residence on Tenn. near River. A dwelling 
owned by Benj. Horton was recorded in the 1873 Atlas of Douglas County. Benjamin Horton 
was again listed for this location from 1875 to 1886. There was no listing for 509 Tenn. in 
1893/94. Lathrop B. Read (letter carrier) and wife Ella were listed as residing at 509 Tenn. in 
1908/09 and again in 1911. In 1913/14 Frank Radcliff was listed as the occupant. Other residents 
include: C.A. Hiatt, 1915; Rev. G.L. Talbot, 1917; Arthur Brown and his wife Ivy C., 1919; John 
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D. Barton and his wife May D., 1923 to 1926; and Frank E. Clark (fireman) and his wife Marid, 
1929/30. The dwelling was recorded on the 1927 Sanborn Map. Michael Shaw was issued a 
building permit (#9879) to enclose the rear porch on 3/9/1973. 
 
5a. Garage, 509 Tennessee St., circa 1960, non-contributing. 
A one story, end-gable garage sheathed in clapboards is located in the SW corner of the property. 
The entrance is located in the north elevation. 
 
6. E.V. Banks Residence, 511 Tennessee St., circa 1860, contributing. 
The one and a half story, front-gable, frame Folk Victorian dwelling sits on a rusticated stone 
foundation. A full width shed roof porch supported by turned spindles spans the façade. 
Clapboards sheathe the dwelling and a shed roof screened porch projects from the south 
elevation. A shed roof addition spans the north elevation. A concrete walk leads from the public 
sidewalk to three wood porch steps. 
 



NPS Form 10-900-a                                     OMB No. 1024-0018 
(8-86) 
United States Department of the Interior 
National Park Service 
 
NATIONAL REGISTER OF HISTORIC PLACES 
CONTINUATION SHEET 
 
Section  _7__     Page  _5__                     Pinckney I Historic District 
                                                    Douglas County, Kansas 
______________________________________________________________________________
_________ 
 
The tax records of 1865 indicate that some type of structure was located on this property. E.V. 
Banks (Thatcher & Banks Attorneys) was listed as residing on the west side of Tenn. between 
Pinckney (6th St.) and Penn (5th St.) in 1866. E.V. Banks was the owner of record in 1867. The 
dwelling was recorded in the 1873 Douglas County Atlas under the ownership of B.J. Horton. In 
1888 and 1890/91 Benjamin J. Horton (Register of Deeds and atty) and wife Virginia were listed 
at this residence. In addition to B.J. Horton, the following were listed as residents in 1893/94: 
Alice Horton, B.J. Horton Jr. (student), Eva Horton (stenographer, Watkins Land Mortgage). The 
Hortons continued to be listed at this address until 1917 when Mrs. Virginia Horton (widow of 
Benj.) was listed as a resident. Eva and Alice Y. Horton were listed as residents from 1919 until 
1930. The dwelling was recorded on the 1927 Sanborn Map. A building permit (#3209) was 
issued to Harl Borland for a porch on 4/26/1961. J. Patterson was issued a building permit 
(#22897) to remodel the dwelling on 5/6/1986. 
 
6a. Garage, 511 Tennessee St., circa 1950, non-contributing. 
A one story, end-gable concrete block garage is located in the NW corner of property. The 
entrance is located in the south elevation. 
 
7. Matthew Shaw Residence, 521 Tennessee St., circa 1861, contributing. 
The two story, cross gable, frame Folk House National dwelling sits on a rusticated stone 
foundation. A shed roof porch supported by wood posts is located in the ell of the cross gable 
projections. Clapboards sheathe the dwelling and shingles sheathe the gable end. A concrete 
walk leads from the public sidewalk to three wood porch steps. 
 
Matthew Shaw (carpenter) was listed as residing at lot 11 on Tenn. in 1860/61. M. Shaw was the 
owner of record in 1867. The dwelling was recorded on the 1873 Atlas of Douglas County under 
the ownership of M. Shaw. In 1893/94 Fritz O. Luckman was listed at this address. The dwelling 
was recorded on the 1905 and 1912 Sanborn Maps. Fritz O. Luckman (clk., Innes, Bullene & 
Hackman), his wife Mrs. Ida I. (dressmaker), Gertha G. Luckman (student, U of K) and 
Charlotte Luckman (student) were listed at this location in 1908/09. Fritz and Ida Luckman were 
again listed at this address from 1911 to 1930. The dwelling was recorded on the 1927 Sanborn 
Map. 
 
7a. Garage, 521 Tennessee, circa 1925, contributing. 
A one story, end-gable, clapboard-sheathed garage is located in the SW corner of the property. 
The entrance is located in the north elevation. 
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8. Louis F. and Fannie F. Conklin Residence, 525 Tennessee St., circa 1905, contributing. 
The two story, front-gable, frame Folk Victorian dwelling sits on a rusticated stone foundation. 
A full width, gable porch supported by tapered wood piers spans the façade. Clapboards sheathe 
the dwelling and shingles sheathe the gable end. Exposed rafter tails are located under the eaves. 
A concrete walk leads from the public sidewalk to three wood porch steps. 
 
The property was recorded as unimproved in the 1873 Atlas of Douglas Co. There was no listing 
for this address in 1893/94. A significant increase in property tax value occurred in 1905 when 
Ida J. Brown was the owner of record. The two-story dwelling was recorded on the 1905 
Sanborn Map. Louis F. Conklin (machinist, Bicycle & General Repair Shop, 836 Mass.), his 
wife Fannie F. and Edward H. Conklin were listed at this address in 1907 and 1908/09. In 1911 
and 1913 James O. Lane (laborer, Bowersock Mills & Power Co.) and his wife Gertie (cigar 
maker, A.J. Pierson) were listed as residents. In 1917 and 1919 Fred M. Webber (traveling agent) 
and his wife Albertine were listed as occupants. Arthur J. Brown (foreman, Lawrence Paper 
Mill) and his wife Ivy were listed as residents in 1923. Mrs. Ivy Brown (widow of Arthur) was 
the sole occupant listed from 1925 until 1930. The dwelling was recorded on the 1927 Sanborn 
Map. 
 
8a. Garage, 525 Tennessee, circa 1920, contributing. 
A one story, end-gable board and batten garage is located in the NW corner of the property. The 
entrance is located in the south elevation. 
 
9. Mrs. Isabell Sutton Residence, 529 Tennessee St., circa 1927, contributing. 
The one and a half story, end-gable, stucco Craftsman dwelling sits on a brick foundation. A half 
width, gable porch supported by tapered wood piers atop brick piers projects from the façade. 
Clapboards sheathe gable ends, which are supported by triangular braces. A concrete walk leads 
from the public sidewalk to three concrete porch steps. 
 
The 1912 Sanborn Map recorded a different dwelling on this property. A significant increase in 
property tax value occurred in 1927 when E.M. Love was the owner of record. The dwelling was 
recorded on the 1927 Sanborn Map. Mrs. Isabelle J. Sutton (widow of Joseph P. and dressmaker) 
was listed as an occupant and the owner of this residence from 1927 until 1930. Joseph Sutton 
(student) was also listed as a resident then. Carl Hodge was issued a building permit (#20261) for 
an addition to the dwelling in 3/20/1984. 
 
9a. Shed, 529 Tennessee St., circa 1970, non-contributing. 
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A one-story metal shed sits in the NW corner of the property. 
 
10. Alex Love Residence, 533 Tennessee St., circa 1866, non-contributing. 
The two story, end-gable with centered cross gable, brick Folk House National dwelling sits on a 
rusticated stone foundation. A gable roof entrance addition projects from the center of the façade. 
The addition is sheathed in diagonal wood siding. A low-hipped porch supported by Tuscan 
columns projects from the southeast corner of the façade and runs along the south elevation. 
Shingles sheathe the gable ends. A shed roof addition, sheathed in clapboards, projects from the 
south elevation. A brick walk leads from the public sidewalk to two concrete porch steps. 
 
The tax records of 1865 do not list either lot 17 or Alex Love. Alex Love (mason) was listed as 
residing on the west side of Tenn. between Pinckney (6th St.) and Penn (5th St.) in the 1866 City 
Directory. Love was not listed at this location in the 1860/61 directory. A portion of the structure 
was recorded in the 1873 Atlas of Douglas Co. The 1905 Sanborn Map shows a larger structure 
with several additions. Alex Love was again listed as resident from 1871 to 1907. Agnes and 
Margaret Love were also listed as residents in 1893/94. In 1908/09 Richard Levi (agt.), his wife 
Fayetta W. and Wilha Levi (clk., W.I. Hoadley) were recorded as residents. Other residents 
include: Susie D. Martin (principal, Woodlawn School), 1911; Fred Shaub, 1913; Mrs. Julia 
Gallagher (widow of Thomas), 1915 to 1930; Walter G. Gallagher (soldier), 1919; Clifford 
Gallagher (helper, Zephyr Bakery), 1923. The dwelling was recorded on the 1905, 1912 and 
1927 Sanborn Maps. On 4/28/1958 a building permit (#1323) was issued to Brien & Bales for a 
change from gas to electric. In 1985 a building permit (#22049) was issued to J. Patterson for a 
remodeling of the dwelling. 
 
11. Fredrick A. and Mary C. Wood Residence, 539 Tennessee St., circa 1903, contributing. 
The two story, cross gable, frame Folk House National dwelling sits on a rusticated stone 
foundation. A hipped roof porch projects from the façade. A central brick chimney pierces the 
roof. Clapboards sheathe the dwelling and gable end vergeboards are sheathed with shingles. A 
hipped dormer projects from the façade roof slope. A one story hipped roof squared bay projects 
from the façade. Three concrete steps lead from the walk to three wood porch steps. 
 
Francis H. Snow (chancellor, KU) was the owner of record when a significant increase in 
property tax value occurred in 1903. The dwelling was recorded on the 1905 Sanborn Map. From 
1905 to 1909 Frederick A. Wood (prof., KU) and his wife Mary C. were listed at this address. 
Rev. W.S. Davis was listed as the occupant in 1911. Other residents include: G.E. Young, 
1913/14; L.B. Gribble, 1915; B.A. Williams, 1917; Thomas Harley (lawyer, Peoples State Bank 
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Bldg.) and his wife Ora B., 1919 and 1923; Benedict Warwick (entomologist) and his wife 
Evelyn, 1925/26. The dwelling was listed as vacant in 1929/30. The dwelling was recorded on 
the 1912 and 1927 Sanborn Maps. 
 
11a. Garage, 539 Tennessee St., circa 1920, contributing. 
A one story, gable-front, clapboard garage sits in the NW corner of the property. The entrance is 
located in the north elevation. 
 
12. James B. and Sarah McMahon Residence, 545 Tennessee St. (300 W. Pinckney St.), circa 
1903, non-contributing. 
The two and a half story, cross gable, frame Queen Anne dwelling sits on a rusticated stone 
foundation. A low-pitched hipped roof porch wraps around southeast corner of the building. 
Tuscan columns in clapboard sheathed balustrade support the porch roof. The entrance is located 
in southeast corner of building under a three-story tower. Asbestos siding covers the dwelling. A 
one-story bay projects from the south elevation. A concrete walk leads from the public sidewalk 
to four wood porch steps. A driveway runs along the west edge of the property. 
 
Francis H. Snow (chancellor, KU) was the owner of record when a significant increase in 
property tax value occurred in 1903. The dwelling was recorded on the 1905 Sanborn Map. 
James B. McMahon (bridge carpenter) and his wife Sarah were listed at this address in 1911. In 
1917 and 1919 Burt E. Brown (traveling agent), Lela L. Brown (student) and Pauline B. Brown 
were listed as residents. William N. B[V]erdine (janitor, Citizens Band) and his wife Christine 
were listed at this address from 1923 to 1930. The dwelling was recorded on the 1912 and 1927 
Sanborn Maps. 
 
400 BLOCK OF WEST 6TH STREET—NORTH SIDE 
 
13. C.W. Barker Residence, 406 W. 6th St., circa 1923, contributing. 
The two and a half story, end-gable, frame Craftsman dwelling sits on a concrete foundation. A 
full width gable porch supported by tapered piers spans the façade. A central brick chimney 
pierces the roof. Clapboards, with endcaps, sheathe the dwelling and shingles sheathe the gable 
ends. Exposed rafter tails are located under the eaves and triangular braces support the gable 
ends. A concrete walk leads from the public sidewalk to four wood porch steps.  
 
A different dwelling was recorded on the 1912 Sanborn Map. C.W. Barker was the owner of 
record when a significant increase in property tax value occurred in 1923. C.W. Barker (mngr., 
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C.E. Mathers Lumber & Coal Co.) and his wife Ula were listed at this address in 1923. Ralph 
Harland (mngr., Burger-Bowman Mathews Lumber Co.) was recorded as occupant and owner in 
1925/26. In addition to Mr. Harland and his wife Nannie, Charles C. McDowell, and Mrs. Lydia 
McDowell (wife of Charles) were listed as residents in 1925/26. The dwelling was recorded on 
the 1927 Sanborn Map. The McDowells and Harlands were listed again in 1929/30, but the 
McDowells were listed as the owners of the property. 
 
13a. Garage, 406 W. 6th St., circa 1920, contributing. 
A one story, gable-front, clapboard garage sits on the north property line. The entrance is located 
in the north elevation. 
 
14. Raymond and Mildred Reed Residence, 408 (308) W. 6th St., circa 1903, non-contributing. 
The two and a half story, gambrel, frame Colonial Revival dwelling has a full width shed roof 
porch supported by wood piers that spans the façade. A brick chimney pierces the south roof 
slope. Clapboards sheathe the first story and shingles sheathe the upper stories. Two hipped 
dormers project from the south roof slope. A concrete walk leads from the public sidewalk to 
three concrete porch steps.  
 
A significant increase in property tax value occurred in 1903 when Frederick H. Snow was the 
owner of record. The dwelling was recorded on the 1905 Sanborn Map as 308 W. Pinckney. In 
1908/09 Raymond Reed (dentist), and his wife Grace Reed, and Mildred Reed (student) were 
listed as residents. David Maskie (real estate), his wife Emma R., Elizabeth E. Maskie (student, 
U of K) and Mabel Maskie (student) were listed at this address in 1911. From 1919 to 1926 Mrs. 
Emma Prentice (widow of Charles T.K.), Emma A. Prentice (clk., Fraternal Aid Union), and 
Edna L. Prentice (phone operator, Fraternal Aid Union) were the occupants of this dwelling. Olin 
K. Fearing (mngr., Prudential Mutual Life Ins. Co.) and his wife Florence were residing at this 
location in 1929/30. The dwelling was recorded on the 1912 and 1927 Sanborn Maps. 
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15. C.G. Gzaplinski Residence, 412 (312) W. 6th St., circa 1903, contributing. 
The two story, cross gable, frame Folk House National dwelling sits on a rusticated stone 
foundation. A porch with Tuscan columns is located under the roof overhang of an east gable 
projection. A central brick chimney pierces the roof. Clapboards sheathe the dwelling and gable 
end vergeboards are sheathed with shingles. A hipped roof dormer projects from the façade roof 
slope. A one-story hipped roof squared bay projects from the façade. A concrete walk leads from 
the public sidewalk to three concrete steps. 
 
A significant increase in property tax value occurred in 1903 when Frederick H. Snow was the 
owner of record. The dwelling was recorded on the 1905 Sanborn Map as 312 W. Pinckney. 
C.G. Gzaplinski was the owner of record in 1906. In 1908/09 Mrs. Katie Waugh, Grace D. 
Saugh (student, U of K), and William K. Waugh (student) were residing at this location. Chester 
I. Dale (Dale-McNeil Realty Co., 701 Mass.) and his wife Nannie were listed as residents in 
1911. From 1919 to 1930 Guy H. Dixon (prop., Dixon’s Sewing Machine Shop, 839½ Mass.) 
was listed as the owner and occupant. Guy Dixon’s wife Nellie was also listed from 1919 to 
1930. Donald Dixon was also listed as a resident in 1929/30. The dwelling was recorded on the 
1912 and 1927 Sanborn Maps. 
 
16. Rev. David (Davis) and Jessie B. Smith Residence, 416 W. 6th St., circa 1903, non-
contributing. 
The two story, pyramidal hipped, frame Folk House National dwelling sits on a rusticated stone 
foundation. A three-quarter width hipped roof porch supported by wood posts projects from the 
façade. Two brick chimneys pierce the north roof slope. Two hipped roof wall dormers project 
from the façade roof. A two story hipped roof bay projects from the west elevation. A concrete 
walk leads from the public sidewalk to three tiled porch steps. A driveway runs along the north 
edge of property. 
 
Francis H. Snow (chancellor, KU) was the owner of record when a significant increase in 
property tax value occurred in 1903. The dwelling was recorded on the 1905 Sanborn Map. In 
1908/09 Rev. David C. Smith, his wife Jessie B., Gordon Smith (student, U of K), Harold Smith 
(student, U of K), and Lucius Smith (student, U of K) were listed at this address. The Smiths, 
with the exception of Lucius, were again listed in 1911. The following members of the Smith 
family were listed in 1919: Rev. David C., Jessie B., Gordon A., Nellie V. (student, KU), and 
Lucile (teacher). By 1923 Edward Drennon (mngr., American Cement Plaster Bldg.), his wife 
Eva Drennon, and Margaret Drennon (student) were listed as residents. Joseph R. Cygon and his 
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wife Grace A. were listed as occupants from 1925 to 1930. The dwelling was recorded on the 
1912 and 1927 Sanborn Maps. Neil Harris was issued a building permit (#761) to remodel the 
front porch on 5/7/1957. 
 
16a. Garage, 416 W. 6th St., circa 1935, non-contributing. 
A one story, hipped, clapboard sheathed garage is located in center of the north property line. 
The entrance from Ohio St. is located in the south elevation. 
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500 BLOCK OF OHIO STREET—EAST SIDE 
 
17. Louis R. Wilhelm Residence, 536 #1 &2 Ohio St., circa 1905, contributing. 
The one and a half story, gambrel roofed, frame Colonial Revival dwelling sits on a rusticated 
stone foundation. A full width, extended shed roofed porch with Tuscan columns spans the 
façade. Brick chimneys pierce the roof slope at the north and south ends. Clapboards, with 
endcaps, sheathe the first story and shingles sheathe the second story. Two gable dormers project 
from the façade roof slope. A gable roofed bay projects from the north façade. A flight of 
wooden stairs leads to a door in the bay. Fenestration retains its original location. A concrete 
walk leads from the public sidewalk to three concrete porch steps. A concrete driveway runs 
along the northwest corner of the property. 
 
There was no listing for this address in 1893/94. Francis H. Snow (chancellor, KU) was the 
owner of record when a significant increase in property tax value occurred in 1903. The dwelling 
was recorded on the 1905 Sanborn Map. In 1907 Louis R. Wilhelm (clk., Missouri Valley Trust 
Co.), his wife Ellen C., Esther Wilhelm (student, Lawrence Business College), and Louis R. 
Wilhelm (student) were listed as residing at this location. Ruth E. Wilhelm (student, KU) and all 
of the 1907 Wilhelms were listed in 1908/09. By 1911 Louis R. Wilhelm was employed as the 
manager of the Morris Land Co. Marcus J. Wells (pres., Workers Cooperative Pub. Co., 13 E. 
Henry) and his wife Alice L. were also listed as occupants. Other residents include: Arthur L. 
Owen (instr., KU) and his wife Sarah, 1915 and 1917; John W. Jenkins (superintendent, 
Lawrence Tile Co.) and his wife Vinne, 1919; Franklin E. Jenkins (electrician), 1919; Charles C. 
Sample (Sample & Stewart Barbers, 830 Mass.) and his wife Selma, 1923 to 1926; Ellen Sample 
(widow of Calvin), 1923 to 1926; James G. Coffey (owner of Triangle Motors, 1016 Mass.) and 
his wife Lena R., 1929/30; Florence J. Coffey (nurse), Kathleen A. Coffey (student) and Ulysses 
M. Coffey (salesman, Triangle Motors), 1929/30. The dwelling was recorded on the 1912 and 
1927 Sanborn Maps. 
 
17a. Garage, 536 Ohio St., circa 1900, contributing. 
A one story, end-gabled, clapboard sheathed garage is located on the NE corner of the property, 
with rafter tails under the eaves. The entrance is located on the west elevation. 
 
18. C.B. McLelland Residence, 534 Ohio St., circa 1867, contributing. 
The two story, cross gable, frame Folk Victorian dwelling sits on a rusticated stone foundation. 
A hipped with center cross gable roof porch with turned spindles and spandrel brackets projects 
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from the façade. A brick chimney runs up the east elevation. Clapboards sheathe the dwelling. A 
two story, flat roofed, clapboard sheathed addition runs between the west and south gable 
projection. A new addition is under construction on east side of house. A concrete walk leads 
from the public sidewalk to one concrete porch step. A driveway runs along the south edge of 
property. 
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The tax records of 1865 do not list lot 34 or B.W. Woodward. B.W. Woodward was the owner of 
record in 1867. The dwelling was recorded in the 1873 Atlas of Douglas Co. and was under the 
ownership of J. Charlton. In 1893/94 C.B. McClelland (veterinary surgeon), I.S. McLelland 
(teacher), and T.L. McLelland (farmer) were listed as residents of this address. The dwelling was 
recorded on the 1906 Sanborn Map. From 1908 to 1913 George W. Smith, his wife Carrie M., 
Guy C. Smith (student, U of K), and Joy F. Smith (student, U of K) were listed as residents. E.F. 
Price was listed as a resident in 1917. Jesse E. Mercer (carrier, Post Office) and his wife Maude 
were the occupants in 1923. In 1925/26 Robert Laughlin and his wife Vivian were listed as 
residents of this address. The dwelling was recorded on the 1912 and 1927 Sanborn Maps. 
 
19. John Charlton Residence, 530 Ohio St., circa 1871, contributing. 
The two story, cross gable, frame Folk Victorian dwelling has a rusticated stone foundation. A 
full width, hipped roofed porch with entablature and wood tapered piers resting on stucco piers 
spans the façade. A terrace runs along the south end of porch and the front gable projection. A 
central brick chimney pierces the roof. Clapboards, with endcaps, sheathe the dwelling. A 
decorative truss appears in the front gable and a round window is present in the façade gable. A 
two story squared bay with a bracketed flat-topped hipped roof projects from the south end 
gable. Clapboards and patterned shingles sheathe the bay. A flat roofed, two story addition 
projects from the front elevation. The addition is sheathed in clapboard. A one story, flat roofed 
addition, clapboard sheathed, projects from the northeast corner of dwelling. A concrete walk 
leads from the public sidewalk to two concrete steps leading to a terrace. 
 
A significant increase in property tax value occurred in 1871 when John Charlton was the owner 
of record. The dwelling was recorded on the 1873 Atlas of Douglas Co. under the ownership of  
J. Charlton. John Charlton (insurance agent, Mass. NW corner of Henry) was listed at this 
residence from 1875 until 1901. Joseph Charlton was also listed as resident in 1875/76. A two-
story frame dwelling with several one story additions were recorded on the 1905 Sanborn Map. 
Thomas F. Kirby (druggist, 711 Mass.) and his wife Vina E. were listed as occupants in 1908/09. 
In addition, Ralph L. Kriby (jeweler, 711 Mass.) and his wife Elise were listed as occupants of 
this dwelling in 1908/09. By 1913/14 Rev. F.M. Testerman was residing at this location. Other 
occupants include: E.S. Strachan 1917; James and Jessie J. Steven, 1919; Lawrence Steven 
(teacher,) 1919; Walter G. Thiele (lawyer, Norton & Thiele, Lawrence National Bank Bldg.) and 
his wife Maude B., 1923 to 1930. The dwelling was recorded on the 1912 and 1927 Sanborn 
Maps. 
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19a. Garage, 530 Ohio St., circa 1920, contributing. 
A one story, end-gabled, clapboard sheathed garage is located in the NE corner of the property. 
The entrance is located on the south elevation. 
 
20. John Whiteside Residence, 524 Ohio St., circa 1871, non-contributing. 
The two story, parallel gable, frame Folk House National dwelling sits on a concrete foundation. 
A shed roofed porch supported by wood posts projects from the center of façade. The porch 
entrance is on the south end. A shed-roofed porch supported by one wood post projects from the 
south elevation. A shed roofed porch projects from the east elevation. Asbestos siding covers the 
dwelling. Fenestration and doors retain their original placement. A concrete walk leads from the 
public sidewalk to four wood porch steps on the façade and three wood porch steps on the south 
elevation. 
 
J. Whiteside was the owner of record when a significant increase in property tax value occurred 
in 1871. John Whiteside (plasterer) was listed as residing at lot 28 Ohio in 1871. The original 
dwelling was recorded in the 1873 Atlas of Douglas Co. under the ownership of J. Whiteside. In 
1893/94 A.G. Hager (atty. At Law, Lawrence National Bank Bldg. Block) was listed at this 
address. The 1905 Sanborn Map recorded the dwelling with a two-story rear addition and wrap-
around porch. By 1908/09 George W. Hamilton (piano tuner, Bell Bros. Piano Co. 925-27 
Mass.) and his wife Ada were listed as occupants. Other residents include: Andrew 
Langenderfer, 1911; F.M. Rhodes, 1913/14; Henry Overbaugher, 1915; G.T. Chafin, 1917; 
Leonard C. Delp (fireman, City Water Works) and Mrs. Hilda Delp (taper, Lawrence Paper 
Mill), 1923 to 1930. The dwelling was recorded on the 1912 and 1927 Sanborn Maps. 
 
20a. Shed, 524 Ohio St., circa 1970, non-contributing. 
A non-permanent metal shed sits on the north property line. 
 
21. Samuel Gilmore Residence, 520 Ohio St., circa 1871, non-contributing. 
The two story, front-gable, frame Greek Revival dwelling has a rusticated stone foundation. A 
full width, flat roofed porch supported by chamfered rusticated stone columns on rusticated stone 
piers spans the façade and curves to run along the south elevation. The porch entablature has 
paired brackets and dentil molding. A central brick chimney pierces the roof. Asbestos siding 
sheathes the dwelling. A cornice with paired brackets and dentil molding mark the eaves. A one 
and a half story, shed roofed addition projects from the east elevation. A shed roofed porch 
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projects from the eastern addition. A concrete sidewalk leads from the public sidewalk to three 
concrete porch steps. 
 
Samuel Gilmore was recorded as residing at lot 28 Ohio from 1871 to 1876. A significant 
increase in property tax value occurred in 1871 when J. Gilmore was the owner of record. The 
dwelling was recorded in the 1873 Atlas of Douglas Co. under the ownership of J. Gilmore. In 
1893/94 and 1896 James O. Holloway (mngr., Geo. Kies Drug Co.) and William Holloway were 
listed as residents. James Holloway was listed in 1898 as owner of Hamilton & Holloway, 
secretary of Lawrence Investment & Loan Co., and vice-president of the George Lies Drug Co. 
Mrs. Francis R. (wife of James) and William F. Holloway were also listed as residents in 1898. 
The dwelling was recorded on the 1905 Sanborn Map. James, Francis and William Holloway 
continued to be listed as residents from 1900 to1923. From 1925 to 1930 Walter T. Hodson 
(traveling salesman) and Lionel Hodson (student) were occupants. The dwelling was recorded on 
the 1912 and 1927 Sanborn Maps. 
 
21a. 520½ Ohio St., circa 1910, contributing. 
A one and a half story, side-gabled, shiplap sided dwelling is placed on the SE corner of the 
property. 
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22. Alex Love Residence, 516 Ohio St., circa 1886, contributing. 
The two story, cross gable, frame Folk House National dwelling with Queen Anne detailing sits 
on a rusticated stone foundation. A full width, gable porch supported by piers with slanted sides 
resting on concrete piers spans the façade. A rusticated stone-enclosed terrace extends beyond 
the porch to the north. A central brick chimney pierces the roof. Clapboards, with endcaps, 
sheathe the dwelling. A two story, squared bay projects from the northeast corner of dwelling. A 
squared hipped roofed bay projects from the south elevation. Decorative spindlework appears in 
the façade gable. A shed roofed enclosed entrance projects from the east elevation of south side-
gable. A concrete walk leads from the public sidewalk to three concrete porch steps. 
 
The property was listed as unimproved in the 1873 Atlas of Douglas Co. Alex Love (plasterer) 
and James G. Love (bkpr., Jim Zooks) were first recorded as occupying this dwelling in 1886. In 
addition, Alex Love was the owner of record when a significant increase in property tax value 
occurred in 1886. Alex Love and James Love were again listed as residents in 1888 and 1900/01. 
By 1893/94 Haviland Whitney (bkpr. National Bank), J.H. Whitney (lawyer, Lawrence National 
Bank), Lillian Whitney, W.H. Whitney (Eldridge  House Livery Stable), and W.H.H. Whitney 
(Whitney & Son, Eldrige House Livery Stable) were listed as occupying the residence. The 
dwelling was recorded on the 1927 Sanborn Map. Other residents include: Mrs. Rachel E. 
Morgan (widow of Gilbert H.), 1908 to 1919; W.C. Fox, 1917; John St. Clair (S&S Grocery, 101 
W. 8th) and Mrs. Mattie M. St. Clair, 1923 to 1930; Harry W. Hoffman (Charlton Ins. Agency) 
and Mrs. Callie Hoffman, 1925/26. It should be noted that there is some confusion about the 
residents of this address from 1919 to 1930. It appears as if the St. Clairs and Rachel Morgan 
have switched dwellings. (See listing #23 for 512 Ohio.) 
 
22a. Garage, 516 Ohio, circa 1910, contributing. 
A one story, front-gable, shiplap joint sided garage is located in the SE corner of property. 
 
23. James B. and Mary T. Stevens Residence, 512 Ohio St., circa 1908, contributing. 
The two and a half story, end-gable stucco Prairie dwelling has a stucco covered foundation. A 
full width, end-gable porch supported by stucco piers spans the façade. A brick chimney runs 
from the south roof slope. A shed roofed squared bay projects from the south elevation. 
Fenestration and doors retain original placement. A concrete walk leads from the public sidewalk 
to three concrete porch steps. 
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James B. Stevens was the owner of record when a significant increase in property tax value 
occurred in 1908. In 1908/09 James B. Steven (teacher) and his wife Mary T. (dressmaker, 4 
Fally Blk.), and Vera E. Stevens (student) were listed as residents. George Douglas was listed as 
an occupant of this location in 1911. John St. Clair (S&S Grocery, 101 W. 8th) and Mrs. Mattie 
M. St. Clair were listed as residents of this address from 1915 to 1919. After 1919 there is some 
confusion as to who lived at this address. The 1923 city directory recorded Rachel Morgan 
(widow of Gilbert H.) as the occupant. The St. Clairs were listed at 516 Ohio in 1923. The 1919 
directory recorded the St. Clairs at 512 Ohio and Rachel Morgan at 516 Ohio, so they may have 
switched residences. Rachel Morgan was again listed as a resident from 1925 to 1930. 
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24. Mrs. S. Barteldes Residence, 510 Ohio St., circa 1886, contributing. 
The one and a half story, cross gable, frame Folk Victorian dwelling has a concrete foundation. 
A full width, flat roofed bracketed porch supported by square wood columns with brackets and 
spandrels spans the façade and runs along the south elevation. A central brick chimney pierces 
the roof. Siding sheathes the dwelling. Brackets and exposed decorative trim are located in the 
end-gable. A shed dormer projects from the north roof slope. A concrete walk leads from the 
public sidewalk to one concrete porch step. A concrete driveway runs along south edge of 
property. 
 
The property was recorded as unimproved in the 1873 Atlas of Douglas Co. E.A. Woodruff was 
the owner of record when a significant increase in property tax value occurred in 1886. There 
was no listing for E.A. Woodruff in the 1886 city directory. By 1893/94 Mrs. S. and Louise 
Barteldes were listed as residents of this dwelling. Louise Barteldes continued to be listed from 
1915 to 1930. The dwelling was recorded on the 1927 Sanborn Map. Other individuals listed as 
occupants include: William H. Robinson (clk., Union Pacific Rail Road) and his wife Blanche, 
1908/09; O.A. Barteldes, 1911, 1913/14; Robert Reynolds (lino. operator, Journal World) and his 
wife Viola, 1923; Lillian Barteldes (student, KU), 1923. 
 
24a. Shed, 510 Ohio St., circa 1970, non-contributing. 
A non-permanent metal shed is located on the on the east property line. 
 
25. Thomas P. Woodruff Residence, 504 Ohio St., circa 1865, non-contributing. 
The two story, cross gable, frame Folk House National dwelling sits on a concrete foundation. 
An end-gable porch with square columns projects from the façade. Clapboards, with endcaps, 
sheathe the building. Patterned shingles sheathe the gable ends. A flat roofed porch with turned 
spindles projects from the south elevation. A flat roofed, clapboard, with endcaps, sheathed 
addition on a concrete foundation projects from the south façade. A concrete walk leads from the 
public sidewalk to one brick porch step.  
 
Thomas P. Woodward was the owner of record in 1865. Thomas P. Woodruff (moulder) was 
listed as residing on the east side of Ohio between Pinckney and Penn in 1866. Thomas P. 
Woodward was not listed in the 1860/61 city directory. Thomas P. Woodruff was also listed at 
this location in 1871 and 1875/76. A dwelling was recorded in the 1873 Atlas of Douglas Co. 
under the ownership of Woodruff. In 1883 Mrs. E.A. Woodruff, F.L. Woodruff (clk), and Miss 
Rosa M. Woodruff (clk) were recorded as residents. Only Mrs. E.A. Woodruff was listed in 1886 
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and 1888. Mrs. E.A. Hull was listed as occupying this residence in 1893/94. By 1908/09 Henry 
S. Foster (clk. Rural Mail Service), his wife Belle, Harold Foster (student), and Clarence D. 
Foster (electrician, F.W. Fein) were residing at this location. Frank and Belle Foster continued to 
be listed as residents from 1911 until 1930. Edward B. Foster (student) was also listed as a 
resident in 1923 and 1925/26. The dwelling was recorded on the 1927 Sanborn Map. Mark 
Lange was issued a building permit (#26024) for remodeling on 6/3/1988. 
 



NPS Form 10-900-a                                     OMB No. 1024-0018 
(8-86) 
United States Department of the Interior 
National Park Service 
 
NATIONAL REGISTER OF HISTORIC PLACES 
CONTINUATION SHEET 
 
Section  _7__     Page  _21__                     Pinckney I Historic 
District 
                                                    Douglas County, Kansas 
______________________________________________________________________________
_________ 
 
25a. Garage, 504 Ohio St., circa 1925, contributing. 
A one story, hipped, brick garage is located on the NE corner of the property. Exposed rafter tails 
are located under eaves and the entrance is in the east elevation. 
 
26. Emma C. Long Residence, 500 Ohio St., circa 1907, contributing. 
The one and a half story, side-gable, frame Folk Victorian dwelling has a concrete foundation. 
An end-gable porch with wood panel supports projects from the façade. Clapboards, with 
endcaps, sheathe the dwelling. Clapboards and patterned shingles sheathe the gable ends. A 
pedimented dormer projects from the façade roof slope and shingles sheathe the dormer. A wide 
band of trim runs under the eaves. A concrete walk leads from the public sidewalk to two brick 
porch steps. 
 
According to the 1873 Atlas of Douglas Col the property was unimproved in 1873. This address 
was not listed in the 1893/94 city directory. In 1907 Emma C. Long (widow of Jacob) was listed 
at this address. There was a significant increase in property tax value in 1908 when Mrs. E. Long 
was the owner of record. Isaac J. Meade (vice-pres., Lawrence National Bank) and his wife Anna 
E. were listed as residents in 1908/09. In 1911 Leo Wertzencorn (lino. oper., Lawrence Journal) 
and his wife Anna E. were listed as residents. Other occupants include: Henry G. Wilson (clk., 
American Cement Plaster Co.) and his wife Elise, 1913/14; E.H. Beacow, 1915; Ernest H. Halco 
(propr., National Nurseries) and his wife Bertha, 1917 until 1930. The dwelling was recorded on 
the 1927 Sanborn Map. 
 
26a. Garage, 500 Ohio St., circa 1928, contributing. 
A one story, end-gable, clapboard-sheathed garage is located in SE corner of the property. The 
garage entrance is located in the east elevation. 
 
400 BLOCK OF OHIO STREET—WEST SIDE 
 
27. Clark B. Mustard House, 421 Ohio St., circa 1906, non-contributing. 
The one and a half story, irregular, frame Folk House National dwelling sits on a rusticated stone 
foundation. A wood deck fills a front ell. Siding sheathes the dwelling. A one story, hipped roof 
bay with exposed rafter tails projects from the south elevation. Fenestration and doors retain 
original placement. A gravel driveway runs along the south edge of property. 
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The earliest known owner of this house is Clark B. Mustard (paper hanger), listed in the 1908-09 
city directory. In 1908-09, Elizabeth Mustard (clk. Innis, Bullene & Hackman) and Lorena 
Mustard boarded at the house. Clark Mustard is again listed in 1911, with Ada B. Mustard 
(seamstress, Keister’s Ladies Tailoring) as boarding. Seth H. Bell (laborer, Bowersock Mill & 
Paper Co.) and wife E. Lorena are listed in 1919. Darrell H. Koontz (employee, Lawrence Steam 
Laundry) and wife Billie were renting the house in 1929. The house is shown on 1918 and 1927 
Sanborn maps. 
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28. A.H. Foote Residence, 425 Ohio St., circa 1871, non-contributing. 
The one and a half story, hipped with lower cross gable, frame Folk House National dwelling has 
a rusticated stone foundation. A shed roof porch supported by square posts projects from the east 
façade. Clapboards, with endcaps, sheathe the dwelling. A one and a half story bay projects from 
the southwest corner of building. The front door retains its original location. A concrete walk 
leads from the public sidewalk to three wood porch steps. 
 
A.H. Foote was the owner of record when a significant increase in property tax value occurred in 
1871. A.H. Foote (atty., Riggs, Nelson & Foote, 67 Mass.) was residing at this location in 1871. 
The dwelling was recorded in the 1873 Atlas of Douglas Co. under the ownership of A.H. Foote. 
By 1875/76 Foote was listed as having his own law firm. F.G. Puilver (horse dealer, 742 
Kentucky) was residing at this address in 1893/94. By 1908/09 Mrs. Martha DaLee (widow of 
Amon) was listed as a resident. From 1911 to 1915 C.F. Squires (photographer) was listed as 
residing at this location. In 1917 Mrs. Elizabeth Squires was the sole occupant listed. Other 
occupants include: George J. Mayer (mach., Edgar Steel & Mnfg. Co.) and his wife Mary, 1919; 
Samuel E. Billingsley (chef, Eldridge Hotel) and his wife Hanna, 1923; Maurice F. Curtie (also 
listed at the owner), 1925/26. The dwelling was recorded on the 1927 Sanborn Map. The 
dwelling was listed as vacant in 1929/30. Frank Harris was issued a building permit (#18459) to 
remodel the dwelling on 10/25/1982. 
 
28a. Garage, 425 Ohio St., circa 1960, non-contributing. 
A two story, clapboard sheathed, hipped garage is placed west of house. The entrance is located 
in the west elevation. 
 
29. Gustave A. Graeber Residence, 433 #1-5 Ohio St., circa 1912, contributing. 
The two and a half story, front-gable, simulated stone concrete block Prairie dwelling has a 
concrete foundation. A full width, low-pitched hipped roof porch supported by square fluted 
columns on wood piers spans the façade. A simulated concrete chimney runs up the north 
elevation. A wide boxed eave overhang marks the  roof-wall junction. A one-story bay projects 
from the north elevation. Fenestration (with concrete lintels and sills) and doors retain their 
original placement. A second story entrance is location on the south elevation, reached by flight 
of wood steps. A concrete sidewalk leads to five concrete porch steps. 
 
The owner of record when a significant increase in property tax value occurred in 1912 was 
Gustave A. Graeber. Gustave A. Graeber (Graeber Brothers—plumbing, 802 Mass.) was listed 
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as occupying this dwelling from 1913 to 1930. Gustave’s wife, Pearl S., was listed as a resident 
from 1915 to 1926. The dwelling was recorded on the 1927 Sanborn Map. 
 
30. Herbert H. Holmes/Henry H. Asher Residence, 437 Ohio St., circa 1908, contributing. 
The two story, cross gable, frame Folk House National with Craftsman details dwelling has a  
rusticated stone foundation. A full width, hipped roof porch with rusticated stone piers spans the 
façade. The porch is screened. A central brick chimney pierces the roof. Clapboards, with 
endcaps, sheathe the dwelling. Exposed rafter tails mark the eaves. A concrete driveway runs 
along the south edge of property. A concrete walk leads from the public sidewalk to four 
concrete porch steps. 
 
The owner of record was James A. Hamlin when a significant increase in property tax value 
occurred in 1908. In 1908/09 Herbert H. Holmes (gen. sec., Young Man’s Christian Assoc., 16 
W. Henry) and his wife Bertha L. were listed as residents of this address. In addition to Herbert 
and Bertha Holmes, Henry H. Asher (clk., District Court) and his wife Frances were also listed 
as occupants in 1908/09. In 1911 and 1913/14 T.V. Edmonds (Fancy Groceries & Meats, 641 
Mass.) and his wife Katherine were listed as occupants. By 1915 W. Foster (miller) and his wife 
Lottie were listed as residing at this location. George B. Edgar (sales mngr., Edgar Steel & Mnfg. 
Co.), his wife Cora May Edgar, George B. Edgar (student), Lucille A. Edgar (student KU), and 
Marion A. Edgar (student) were all occupants in 1917 and 1919. By 1923 only George B. Edgar, 
Cora May Edgar and George B. Edgar Jr. were listed as residents. In 1925/26 George B. Edgar 
and his wife Cora May were the only occupants recorded. George Edgar and Cora were again 
listed in 1929/30 along with Mary Elizabeth Edgar (student). The dwelling was recorded on the 
1927 Sanborn Map. 
 
30a. Garage, 437 Ohio St., circa 1950, non-contributing. 
A one story, end-gable, asbestos siding covered garage is located on the west property line. 
Exposed rafter tails are located under the eaves and the entrance is in the east elevation. 
 
31. E.P. Atherton Residence, 441 Ohio St., circa 1874, contributing. 
The one and one half story, end-gable, frame Folk House National dwelling has a brick and 
rusticated stone foundation. A three-quarter width, flat roofed porch supported by wood piers 
projects from the façade and runs along the south elevation. A one story, flat roofed, clapboards 
with endcaps sheathed addition and rusticated stone foundation projects from the north elevation. 
A shed roofed porch projects from the west elevation. A one story flat roofed clapboard sheathed 
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with rusticated stone foundation addition projects from the façade between the front porch and 
one story addition on the north elevation. Three concrete steps lead to the front porch.  
 
The property was recorded as unimproved in the 1873 Atlas of Douglas County. E.P. Atherton 
was the owner of record when a significant increase in property value occurred in 1874. In 
1875/76 and 1879 E.P. Atherton (blacksmith) was listed as residing on Lot 13 Ohio. Mrs. A.M. 
Atherton (wife of E.P.) was the sole occupant listed in 1883. James A. Hamlin (City Drug Store) 
was listed at this address in 1886. J.A. Hamlin was again listed from 1888 until 1929/30. During 
this period, J.A. Hamlin was listed at a variety of occupations: owner of Druggist & Druggist 
Sundries, 639 Mass.; Druggist with C.C. Shaler & Notary Public, 742 Mass.; clk. M.W. of A. 
Cap Hess Drug Co. The dwelling was recorded on the 1927 Sanborn Map. Other occupants 
include: Mrs. Elizabeth M. Hamlin (wife of J.A.), 1898 to1909; Anita M. Hamlin (wife of J.A. & 
Public Health Nurse Social Service League), 1911 to 1917; Mary I. Hamlin (widow of Charles 
W.), 1919 to 1930. 
 
31a. Shed, 441 Ohio St., circa 1920, non-contributing. 
A one story, vertical shiplap jointed siding is located on the west property line, with a door in the 
north elevation. Exposed rafter tails are present under the eaves. 
 
32. Alexander P. Shaw Residence, 447-447½ Ohio St., circa 1866, contributing. 
The two story, cross gable, frame Folk House National dwelling has a rusticated stone 
foundation. A full width, shed roof porch supported by Tuscan columns spans front ell. A central 
brick chimney pierces the roof. Clapboards, with endcaps, sheathe the dwelling. Triple windows 
are placed in the second story of the front gable. Fenestration and doors retain their original 
placement. A concrete walk leads from the public sidewalk to four wood porch steps.  
 
There was a significant increase in property tax value between 1865 and 1867. Alexander Shaw 
was the owner of record in 1867. There was no listing for Alexander Shaw in the 1866 city 
directory. Alex Shaw was listed as residing at lot 15 Ohio in 1868/69. The dwelling was recorded 
in the 1873 Atlas of Douglas Co. under the ownership of M.J. Burlingame. From 1875 to 1883 
M.J. Burlingame was residing at lot 15 Ohio. M.J. Burlingame’s occupation was hunter in 1871 
and deputy sheriff (office County Jail, Pinckney) in 1879. In 1893/94 Mrs. M.J. Burlingame 
(wife of M.J.) was the sole occupant listed. By 1908/09 Calvin J. Hawk (real estate, 3 E. 
Winthrop), his wife Anna J., and Anne N. Hawk were listed as occupants. J.T. Glenn was listed 
as residing at this location in 1911. In 1913/14 and 1915 P.E. Young was listed as a resident of 
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447½ Ohio. The dwelling was recorded on the 1927 Sanborn Map. Other occupants include: 
C.O. Lesher, 1917; Charles B. Young and his wife Kate B., 1919 to 1930. Natural Breeze was 
issued a building permit (#22863) to remodel the dwelling on 5/25/1986. 
 
32a. Garage, 447 Ohio St., circa 1928, contributing. 
The one story, hipped roof, concrete block garage cut to resemble stone is located in the center of 
the west property edge with an entrance in the south elevation.  
 
400 BLOCK OF LOUISIANA—EAST SIDE 
 
33. William A. and Bertha Ramsey Residence, 444 Louisiana St., circa 1922, contributing. 
The one and a half story, end-gable, frame Craftsman style dwelling sits on a rusticated stone 
foundation. A hipped roof porch with centered cross gable supported by piers with slanted sides 
on brick piers projects from the façade. Screens enclose the porch. A central brick chimney 
pierces the roof. Clapboards, with endcaps, sheathe the building. Fenestration and doors retain 
their original placement. A concrete walk leads from the public sidewalk to four wood porch 
steps. A chain link fence encloses the property.  
 
The 1919 city directory had no listing for this address. William A. and Bertha Ramsey were the 
owners of record when a significant increase in tax value occurred in 1922. In 1923 William A. 
and Bertha Ramsey were listed as occupants. William A. Ramsey was listed as the owner and 
occupant in 1925/26. The dwelling was recorded on the 1927 Sanborn Map. In 1929/30 Wm. 
(salesman, Weavers Dept. Store) and Bertha Ramsey were again listed as residents of this 
address. 
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33a. Garage, 444 Louisiana St., circa 1920, contributing. 
A one story, end-gable, stucco garage is located on the NE corner of the property with an 
entrance in the south elevation. 
 
500 BLOCK OF OHIO STREET—WEST SIDE 
 
34. Charles E. Decker Residence, 501 Ohio St., circa 1908, contributing. 
The two and a half story, front-gable with cross gable, frame Prairie dwelling sits on a stucco-
covered foundation. A full width, shed roof porch with Tuscan columns spans the façade. A 
central brick chimney pierces the roof. Clapboards, with endcaps, sheathe the dwelling and 
shingles sheathe the gable end. A squared bay projects from the north elevation. Fenestration and 
doors retain their original placement. A concrete walk leads from the public sidewalk to wooden 
porch steps.  
 
The 1873 Atlas of Douglas Co. recorded the property as unimproved. A significant increase in 
property tax value occurred in 1908 when J.W. Shaw was the owner of record. From 1908 to 
1923 Charles E. Decker (clk. and later mngr., A.D. Weaver) and his wife Edna were listed as 
residents of this address. From 1925 to 1930 Lloyd S. Purcell (asst. sec. treas., Kansas Electric 
Power Co.) and his wife Eva were listed as occupants. Elizabeth Purcell was also listed as a 
resident in 1929/30. The dwelling was recorded on the 1927 Sanborn Map. 
 
34a. Garage, 501 Ohio St., circa 1920, non-contributing. 
A one story, flat roofed, stucco garage is located on the SW corner of the property with an 
entrance in the west elevation. 
 
35. W.O.K. Cone/Bishop Thomas Vail Residence, 505 Ohio St., circa 1866, contributing. 
The two story, low-pitched hipped roof, brick Italianate dwelling sits on a stucco-covered 
foundation. A full width, flat roofed porch supported by wooden columns with brackets and 
segmental arches between the columns spans the façade and runs across the south elevation. A 
five sided open bay projects from the south elevation of the porch. A brick chimney runs up the 
west elevation. Wide overhanging eaves and wide bands of trim mark the roof-wall junction. A 
one story hipped roof bay projects from the south elevation. A two story, framed end-gable 
addition projects from the west elevation. Windows (with segmental arch hoods) and doors retain 
their original placement. 
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A significant increase in property tax valuation occurred between 1865 and 1867 when Mrs. 
Margaret Cone was the owner of record. W.O.K. Cone (military atty.) was residing on Ohio 
between Pinckney and Penn in 1866. Rev. Thomas Vail (pastor, Episcopal Church) was listed as 
residing on Ohio near Penn in 1868/69. In 1871 and 1875/76 Thomas Vail was listed as the 
Bishop of the Episcopal Church and residing at lot 21 Ohio. The dwelling was recorded in the 
1873 Atlas of Douglas Co. under the ownership of T.H. Vail. By 1893/94 J.A. Dailey 
(Queensware, 819 Mass.) and Cydney Clark (clk.) were listed at this address. William T. Sinclair 
(Real Estate & Mortgage Loans, Abstracts of Title and Rare Insurance), his wife Hattie E., Alice 
L. Sinclair (clk.), Mrs. Isabelle F. Sinclair, and Marie W. Sinclair were listed as occupants in 
1908/09. Wm. T. Sinclair and Hattie were listed again as residents in 1911 and 1913/14. In 1915 
Mrs. Hattie Sinclair was the sole occupant listed. Mrs. Frieda Rudolph (widow of J.C.) was listed 
as an occupant from 1917 to 1930. Ruth G. Rudolph (student) was listed as a resident in 1919. 
The dwelling was recorded on the 1927 Sanborn Map. 
 
35a. Garage, 505 Ohio St., circa 1915, contributing. 
A one story hipped shiplap joint siding covered garage is located on the NW corner of the 
property with an entrance in the south elevation. 
 
35b. Garage, 505 Ohio St., 1994, non-contributing. 
A one story, clapboard sided, hipped roof garage is located on the SW corner of the property 
with an entrance in the west elevation. 
 
36. T.D. Griffith Residence, 511 (513) Ohio St., circa 1888, contributing. House listed on 
Lawrence Register of Historic Places. 
The two and a half story, cross gable, frame Stick dwelling sits on a rusticated stone foundation. 
A one-half width, shed roof porch supported by square columns projects from the front elevation. 
A three story, square tower with pyramidal hipped roof and brackets is located in the junction of 
the ell. Clapboards sheathe the dwelling and patterned shingles sheathe the gable ends and third 
story of the tower. Horizontal and vertical stickwork divide wall surfaces. Brackets under the 
eaves form upper exteriors of vertical stickwork. A squared shed roof bay projects from the 
façade. A concrete walk leads from the public sidewalk to four wood porch steps. 
 
The property was recorded as unimproved in the 1873 Atlas of Douglas Co. Nellie C. Griffith 
was the owner of record when a significant increase in property tax valuation occurred in 1888. 
T.D. Griffith (general insurance agent) was listed at 513 Ohio in 1890/91. In 1893/94 and 1896 
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John E. Jewitt (farmer) was listed as occupying 513 and 511 respectively. By 1908/09 Robert C. 
Johnston (sec. and mngr., Lawrence Electric Light Co.), his wife Helen A., Robert Johnston 
(student, KU), and Mary H. Johnston (student, KU) were listed as residents of 511 Ohio. In 1911 
Robert Johnston and his wife Helen were again listed as residents. In 1915 and 1917 Mrs. Ella 
Longnecker was listed at this location. Charles Elwell (bkpr., People State Bank) and his wife 
Mary T. were occupants in 1919 and 1923. In 1929/30 Paul C. Squires (instr., KU) and his wife 
Margaret were listed as residents. The dwelling was recorded on the 1927 Sanborn Map. R.E. 
Euler Builders was issued a permit (#12597) to remodel the dwelling on 2/2/1977. A second 
remodeling building permit (#24913) was issued to Natural Breeze on 10/13/1987. 
 
36a. Garage, 511 Ohio St., circa 1991, non-contributing. 
A two story, front-gabled, clapboard sheathed garage is located in the SW corner of the property 
with an entrance in the north elevation. 
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37. Carl S. and Gladys F. Rarick Residence, 515 Ohio St., circa 1911, contributing. 
The two and a half story, side-gable, frame Colonial Revival dwelling has a rusticated stone 
foundation. A flat roofed porch supported by paired Tuscan columns on stone piers projects from 
the center of the façade. A brick chimney pierces the west roof slope. Clapboards, with endcaps, 
sheathe the first story and shingles sheathe the second story. A flat roofed, two-story porch with 
Tuscan columns and balustrade enclosing the roof, projects from the south elevation. The south 
porch is open on the first story and enclosed with double hung windows on the second story. A 
gable dormer, sheathed with shingles, projects from the façade roof slope. Triple windows 
appear in the façade and dormer. A concrete walk leads from the public sidewalk to five wood 
porch steps. 
 
A significant increase in property tax valuation occurred in 1911 when Gladys F. Rarick was the 
owner of record. From 1911 through 1926, Carl S. Rarick (asst. mngr., Bowersock Mills) was 
listed as occupant. Carl Rarick’s wife Gladys was listed as a resident from 1919 through 
1929/30. The dwelling was recorded on the 1927 Sanborn Map. Restoration & Rehab Center was 
issued a building permit (#15251) to remodel the dwelling on 7/23/1979. 
 
37a. Garage, 515 Ohio St., circa 1915, contributing. 
A one story, end-gable, clapboard-sheathed garage is located on the SW corner of the property. 
A return cornice is located in the gable ends. Gable ends are sheathed with shingles and the 
entrance is located in the south elevation. 
 
38. Paul A. and Mary B. Dinsmoor Residence, 519 Ohio St., circa 1915, contributing. 
The two and a half story, side-gable, stucco Craftsman dwelling sits on a  rusticated stone 
foundation. A full width, shed roofed porch supported by wood piers with slanted sides spans the 
façade. A stucco chimney runs along the south elevation. Triangular brackets support the eaves. 
A gable dormer projects from the east roof slope. Fenestration and doors retain their original 
placement. A concrete walk leads from the public sidewalk to four wood porch steps. A concrete 
driveway runs along the north edge of the property line. 
 
J.D. Bowersock was the owner of the record when a significant increase in property tax value 
occurred in 1915. Prior to this date Paul A. Dinsmoor and J.D. Bowersock were owners of 
record. Paul A. Dinsmoor (asst. supt., Lawrence Paper Mnfg.) and his wife Mary B. were listed 
as residents of this address from 1915 to 1926. The dwelling was listed as vacant in 1927/28. In 
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1929/30 A.F. McClanahan was listed as a resident. The dwelling was recorded on the 1927 
Sanborn Map. Concept IV was issued a building permit (#12601) for a remodeling on 2/2/1977. 
 
38a. Garage, 519 Ohio St., circa 1960, non-contributing. 
A one story, flat pitched roof garage is located on the west property line. The garage is clad in 
vertically ridged siding and the entrance is located in the west elevation. 
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39. S.K. Huson Residence, 529 Ohio St., circa 1871, contributing. 
The two story, end-gable, brick Queen Anne dwelling has a rusticated stone foundation. A full 
width, shed roofed porch supported by turned spindles with spandrel brackets spans the façade 
and one-quarter of the south elevation. An end-gable projects from the front porch roof at the 
south end of the east elevation over the porch steps. A brick chimney runs up the north elevation. 
A decorative truss is located in the gable end. A one story, side-gable addition sheathed with 
patterned shingles and vertical and horizontal stickwork on a stone foundation projects from the 
south elevation. A two story, end-gable clapboard sheathed addition projects from the west 
elevation. A one-story gable roof, with exposed rafters, clapboard-sheathed addition projects 
from the south end of the west elevation. Fenestration and doors retain their original placement. 
Arched window openings are located in the original brick end-gable structure. 
 
A significant increase in property tax valuation occurred in 1871 when S.K. Huson was the 
owner of record. The dwelling was recorded in 1873 Atlas of Douglas Co. under the ownership 
of T.Y. Gardner. In 1883 and 1886 Mrs. M.A. Andrews was listed as residing on (lot) 31 Ohio. 
C.R. Andrews (commercial traveler) was listed at this address from 1888 to 1896. From 1898 to 
1907 the following members of the Andrews family were listed as occupants: Theodore R., Miss 
Camilla V., Miss Gertrude M., and Charles P. In 1908/09 and 1911 Charles R. Andrews (travel 
agt.), his wife Margaret and Katherine Andrews were listed as occupants. Other occupants 
include:  Mrs. Isabelle Sutton (widow of Joseph), 1915 to 1930; Emily E. Mena (cigar maker, 
Boener Bros.), 1919. The dwelling was recorded on the 1927 Sanborn Map. 
 
39a. Garage, 529 Ohio St., circa 1910, contributing. 
A one story, end-gable, shiplap joint siding covered garage is located on the NE corner of 
property. Exposed rafter tails are present under the eaves and the entrance is located on the south 
elevation. 
 
40. C.R. and Margaret A. Andrews Residence, 533 Ohio St., circa 1885, non-contributing. 
The two story, end-gable, frame Folk House National dwelling has a rusticated stone foundation. 
A full width, hipped roof porch with Tuscan columns spans the façade and the south elevation. A 
central brick chimney pierces the roof. Clapboards, with endcaps, sheathe the dwelling. A one 
story, flat roofed, clapboard sheathed addition projects from the west elevation. Fenestration and 
doors retain their original placement, except for three sliding glass doors on the south elevation. 
A concrete walk leads from the public sidewalk to four porch steps. 
 



NPS Form 10-900-a                                     OMB No. 1024-0018 
(8-86) 
United States Department of the Interior 
National Park Service 
 
NATIONAL REGISTER OF HISTORIC PLACES 
CONTINUATION SHEET 
 
Section  _7__     Page  _33__                     Pinckney I Historic 
District 
                                                    Douglas County, Kansas 
______________________________________________________________________________
_________ 
 
The property was recorded as unimproved in the 1873 Atlas of Douglas Co. The owner of record 
was Maggie A. Andrews when a significant increase in property tax valuation occurred in 1885. 
In 1886 C.R. Andrews (commercial travel) and Mrs. Margaret A. Andrews were listed at this 
location. By 1893/94 Robert S. Drake (commercial travel) and Miss Anna Drake were listed as 
occupants. In 1908/09 Samuel W. Atkins (insurance agent) and his wife Anna P. were listed as 
residents. Issac J. Meade (vice-pres., Lawrence National Bank) and his wife Anna E. were listed 
at this location from 1911 to 1915. In 1917 Mrs. Jessie O’Donnell (widow of Henry) and Harold 
O’Donnell (student) were listed as residing at this address. Other occupants include: William T. 
and Martha B. Quilin, 1919; William E. Bear (watchmaker, Sol Marks) and his wife Bertie, 
1923; William L. Newman (mngr., Newman Shoe Co., 805 Mass.) and his wife Katherine, 1925-
1930. The dwelling was recorded on the 1927 Sanborn Map. 
 
41. Alex Love Residence, 539 #1-4 Ohio St., circa 1871, non-contributing. 
The two story, end-gable with wing, frame Folk House National dwelling sits on a rusticated 
stone foundation. A small gable covers the entrance and a concrete wall of the former front porch 
extends from the northeast corner of the house. A central brick chimney pierces the roof. Vinyl 
siding sheathes the dwelling. A side-gable, two story addition with a concrete foundation 
projects from the north elevation. A shed roof, one story addition with a concrete foundation 
projects from the rear elevation. A brick walk leads from the public sidewalk to five concrete 
porch steps. 
 
A significant increase in property tax valuation occurred in 1871 when Alex Love was the owner 
of record. The dwelling was recorded in the 1873 Atlas of Douglas Co. under the ownership of 
A. Love. Alex Love was the owner of record again in 1881. N.H. Gosline (grocer, 911 Mass.) 
was listed as occupying this address in 1890/91 and 1893/94. B.A. Williams was the owner of 
record in1905. In 1907 Edwin Lanton (civil engineer), Jessie A. Lanton (clk., P.O.), Lulu D. 
Lanton (clk., ACPC) and William M. Lanton (student) were occupants. Charles L. Lanton were 
also listed as occupant in 1908/09 with Lulu D. and William M. Lanton. From 1911 to 1917 B.G. 
Williams and his wife Blanche were listed as residents. In the 1915 city directory the property 
was listed as 541 Ohio. Theo W. Schoelein (pipe maker, Reuter Organ Co.) and his wife Marie 
were listed as residing at this location from 1923 until 1930. Melba Schoenlein (teacher) and 
Theo W. Jr. (student) Schoenlein were listed as residents in 1925/26 and 1929/30. The dwelling 
was recorded on the 1927 Sanborn Map. 
 
42. J.W. Martin Residence, 545 Ohio St., circa 1871, non-contributing. 
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The two story, end-gable, frame Folk House National dwelling sits on a rusticated stone 
foundation. A full width, flat roofed porch with Tuscan columns on stone piers and entablature 
with cornice spans the façade. A central brick chimney pierces the roof. Vinyl siding sheathes 
the dwelling. The front door has sidelights and a transom. A one story, flat roofed addition, 
covered with vinyl siding, projects from the west elevation. A flat roofed porch projects from the 
east elevation of the addition. 
 
J.W. Martin was the owner of record when a significant increase in property tax valuation 
occurred in 1872. The dwelling was recorded in the 1873 Atlas of Douglas Co. under the 
ownership of J.W. Martin. In 1879 Edward Griffith (printer) was listed as residing on the NW 
corner of Pinckney and Ohio. Mrs. Nellie C. Griffith, Miss Nellie Griffith, Mrs. Maggie Griffith, 
T.D. Griffith (insurance agt.) and W.E. Griffith (clk.) were listed as residing on the corner of 
Ohio and Pinckney in 1833. Only T.D. Griffith (special insurance agt.) was listed in 1886. 
Benjamin A. Williams (comm. trav.) was listed at this location in 1893/94. From 1896 to 1901 
B.A. Williams was again listed along with James F. Williams (travel agt.)  In 1898 and 1900/01 
the wives of B.A. Williams (Blanche L.) and James F. Williams (Olive) were also listed as 
residents. From 1900 to 1909 only B.A. and Blanche L. Williams were listed as residents. Other 
occupants include: Charles L. Linton, 1911; Mrs. Ella and Lulu Linton, 1913 to 1917; Raleigh R. 
Hickson (prop., City Drug Store, 706 Mass.), 1917; Theron O. Roberts (carpenter, Bowersock 
Mill & Power Co.) 1919, 1923 and his wife Hattie A. Roberts, 1919 to 1926; Robert M. Larcom 
(painter) and his wife Velma, 1927 to 1930. The dwelling was recorded on the 1927 Sanborn 
Map. 
 
500 BLOCK OF WEST 6TH STREET—NORTH SIDE 
 
43. Alexander Shaw Residence, 506 W. 6th St., circa 1869-70, non-contributing. 
The one and a half story, cross gable, frame Folk Victorian dwelling sits on a rusticated stone 
foundation. A full width, low-pitched porch supported by turned spindles spans the façade and 
runs along the east and south elevations. A central stucco chimney pierces the roof. Shingles 
sheathe the dwelling. A one story, hipped addition projects from the west elevation. A shed 
dormer projects from the east roof slope. A gable wall dormer projects from the south elevation 
of the west gable projection. A gravel driveway runs along the east edge of the property line. 
 
A significant increase in property tax valuation occurred in 1869 and 1870 when A. Shaw was 
the owner of record. In 1871 Alexander Shaw (carpenter) was listed as residing at (lot) 13 
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Pinckney between Ohio and Louisiana. The dwelling was recorded in the 1873 Atlas of Douglas 
Co. under the ownership of L. Boswell. F.E. Boswell (Smith & Boswell) was listed as residing at 
this location in 1875/76. In 1883 and 1886 B.A. Ambler (cashier, K.C.L.& S.K. Rail Road) was 
listed at this location. Charles P. Houghton and Howard W. Houghton were listed as residents 
from 1907 to 1930. Other members of the Houghton family at this address were:  Howard W. 
(student), 1907 to 1911; James H., 1908 to 1914; Helen (teacher), 1907 to 1930; Wilma F. 
(Lawrence Public Library), 1919 to 1930. The dwelling was recorded on the 1927 Sanborn Map. 
Laman Harris was issued a building permit (#13508) to remodel the dwelling on 12/23/1977.  
 
43a. Garage, 506 W. 6th St., 1982, non-contributing. 
A one story, hipped roof garage clad in vertical siding is located on the north property line with 
an entrance in the north elevation. 
 
44. A.L. Pease Residence, 510 W. 6th St., circa 1865, non-contributing. 
The one story, end-gable, frame Folk House National dwelling sits on a rusticated stone 
foundation. A squared bay projects from the east elevation. The entrance is located in the south 
end of the bay. A wood deck projects from the south end of the bay entrance. A boxed overhang 
is present at the eave line. Aluminum siding covers the building. Two concrete steps lead to the 
entrance. 
 
The tax records of 1865 indicate that there was structure located on this property. A.L. Pease was 
the owner of record in 1869. From 1871, 1875/76 and 1879 Joseph Cracklin (bailiff) was listed 
as residing on Pinckney between Ohio and Louisiana. The dwelling was recorded in the 1873 
Atlas of Douglas Co. under the ownership of J. Cracklin. Joseph T. Shanklin (local F. & T.A., 
Union Pacific Railroad) was listed at this location in 1898. Joseph T. Shanklin and his wife Anna 
were listed at this location from 1900 to 1909. In 1907 and 1908/09 Flora M. (student, KU & 
later teacher, Central School) was also listed as a resident. Other occupants include: Leo B. 
Gribble (bkpr., Lawrence National Bank) and his wife Gerta, 1912/13; Harry L. Dunnett (travel 
agt., American Cement Plaster Co.) and Phyllis Dunnett (student), 1915; Howard W. Boltz (gen. 
sec., YMCA), his wife Ethel and Clarence Boltz (student), 1917; Willis G. Fish (sales) and his 
wife Lillian B., 1919, 1923; Willis G. Fish Jr. (student) and Lillian V. Fish (teacher, Jr. High 
School), 1923; George L. Beans, 1925/26, 1927/28; John L. Jones and his wife Luella, 1929/30. 
The dwelling was recorded on the 1927 Sanborn Map. 
 
44a. Garage, 510 W. 6th St., circa 1920, non-contributing. 
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A one story, end-gable garage is located on the NW corner of the property. The garage is clad in 
vertical wood siding with an entrance in the east elevation. 
 
45. Edwin Pierson Residence, 516 W. 6th St. (546 Louisiana), circa 1890, contributing. 
The two and a half story, hipped with cross gable, frame Queen Anne dwelling sits on a 
rusticated stone foundation. A half width, end-gable porch supported by turned spindles projects 
from the façade. Clapboards, with endcaps, sheathe the dwelling. Shingles sheathe the gable ends 
and the junction of the first and second stories. Spindlework detailing is located under the gable 
eaves of the dwelling and porch roof. A concrete walk leads from the public sidewalk to five 
concrete porch steps.  
 
The property was recorded as unimproved in the 1873 Atlas of Douglas Co. There was a steady 
increase in property tax value from 1887 to 1890 during which time the owner of record was 
Elmer B. Pierson. From 1890 to 1896 Elmer E. Pierson (vice-pres., Pierson Milling Co.) was 
listed as a resident of 546 Louisiana. Elmer Pierson and his wife Mattie were listed as residents 
in 1898 and 1890/01. From 1902 to 1911 Morris Robinson and his wife Sarah M. were listed as 
occupants of this dwelling. Morris Robinson had the following occupations during his residency: 
pres., Lawrence Vitrified Brick & Tile Co., 1905; Robinson & Winey Clothing, 742 Mass., 
1907-11. Effie Robinson was also listed as a resident in 1907. Other occupants include: Edwin S. 
Strachan (Robertson & Strachan Furniture Co.) and his wife Mary A., 1913/14; William A. 
McKeiver (instructor, KU) and his wife Edith S., 1915; Isaac J. Meade (vice-pres., Lawrence 
National Bank) and his wife Anna E., 1917 to 1930; Martha Meade (student), 1929/30. The 
dwelling was recorded on the 1927 Sanborn Map. Perry Puderbaugh was issued a building 
permit (#15353) for remodeling on 8/29/1979. A building permit (#19322) was issued to Perry 
Puderbaugh for a second remodeling on 8/12/1983. 
 
45a. Garage, 516 W. 6th St., circa 1920, non-contributing. 
A one story, gambrel roof, clapboard sheathed garage is located on the NE corner of the 
property, with an entrance located in the west elevation from Louisiana Street. 
 
500 BLOCK OF LOUISIANA STREET—EAST SIDE 
 
46. Junius Underwood Residence, 534 Louisiana St., circa 1906, contributing. 
The two and a half story, hipped with cross gable, frame Queen Anne dwelling sits on a 
rusticated stone foundation. A full width, hipped roof porch supported by turned spindles spans 
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the façade. A brick chimney pierces the east roof slope. Clapboards, with endcaps, sheathe the 
dwelling. A two story, gable roof bay with a pent roof projects from the south elevation Shingles 
sheathe the gable ends. A concrete walk leads from the public sidewalk to three porch steps. 
 
The 1873 Atlas of Douglas Co. recorded the property as unimproved. A significant increase in 
property tax value occurred in 1906 under the ownership of I.F. Hughes. Junius Underwood (J. 
Underwood & Jones Produce, 609 Mass.) and his wife Flora E. were listed as occupants from 
1908 to 1917. Other members of the Underwood family listed at this address included: Alice 
(student), 1908/09; Addie (teacher, High School), 1908 to 1915; Fay (student), 1915; Prescott 
(clk., J. Underwood), 1915,1917; and William V. (clk., J. Underwood), 1915. From 1923 to 1930 
William Underwood (J. Underwood & Son feed, seeds, and produce, 608-618 Mass.) and his 
wife Elizabeth were listed at this address. The dwelling was recorded on the 1927 Sanborn Map. 
 
47. S.H. Andrews Residence, 530 Louisiana St., circa 1868, contributing. 
The two and a half story, front-gable, brick Folk House National dwelling sits on a brick 
foundation. A small gable roof porch supported by pilasters projects is placed above the entrance 
in the north end of the façade. A central brick chimney pierces the roof. An arched top window is 
located in the peak of the façade gable. A brick walk leads to the house’s entrance. 
 
S.H. Andrews was the owner of record when a significant increase in property tax valuation 
occurred in 1868. The dwelling was recorded in the 1873 Atlas of Douglas Co. under the 
ownership of Mrs. M.M. Dennan. Willis K. Folks and wife Emma were listed as residents in 
1908/09. In 1911 Thomas J. Curren and his wife Ada were occupants of this address. Jones T. 
Hornaday (trav. Agt.), his wife Carrie, Clarence E. Hornaday (teacher), Grace B. Hornaday 
(teacher), and Helen M. Hornaday (teacher) were listed as residents from 1913 to 1919. In 1923 
John R. Draper (barber, Henry & Hyatt), his wife Ada, and Norbert Draper (barber, Sample-
Stewart) were listed as occupants. Roscoe Gross and his wife Elizabeth were listed at this 
location in 1925/26. Milton J. Perry (laborer), his wife Mary, Emmett Perry (slsmn.), Perel Perry 
(student), Shelby Perry (slsmn.), and his wife Viola were all listed as occupants in 1927/28 and 
1929/30. The dwelling was recorded on the 1927 Sanborn Map. George Osborn was issued a 
permit (#24363) to remodel the dwelling on 6/12/1987. 
 
48. Joseph T. Shanklin Residence, 524 (522) Louisiana St., circa 1884, non-contributing. 
The one story, deck roofed, frame Italianate dwelling sits on a rusticated stone foundation. A 
low-pitched, full width porch supported by square columns spans the façade. Wood siding 
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sheathes the dwelling. A central brick chimney pierces the roof. A concrete walk leads from the 
public sidewalk to one concrete porch step.  
 
A significant increase in property tax value occurred in 1884 when James Adams was the owner 
of record. In 1888 Joseph T Shanklin (agt., Union Pacific Rail Road) was listed as occupying 
522 Louisiana. Joseph T. Shanklin was again listed in 1890/91 and 1893/94 as residing at 524 
Louisiana. By 1913/14 Roy A. Cook (clk., Framers Union Cooperative Assn.), Samuel Cook and 
Mary B. Cook were listed as residents of this address. Roy A. Cook was again listed as occupant 
from 1915 to 1923. Samuel Cook was only listed again in 1915. Maybelle Cook was listed as a 
resident in 1919. Mary B. Cook was listed as residing at this location again in 1923. In 1925/26, 
and 1929/30 Joseph W. Austill (sec. foreman, A.T. & A.F. Railroad) and his wife Ida were listed 
as residents. The dwelling was recorded on the 1927 Sanborn Map. 
 
49. Jessie Dillard Residence, 520 Louisiana St., circa 1890, contributing. House listed on 
Lawrence Register of Historic Places. 
The two and a half story, cross gable, frame Queen Anne dwelling sits on a rusticated stone 
foundation. A full width, hipped roof porch supported by turned spindles with spandrel brackets 
spans the façade. Brackets support eaves in the façade gable end. A pent roof is located in the 
south gable end. A five-sided screened porch projects from the south gable end. Clapboards 
sheathe the dwelling and shingles sheathe the gable ends. A brick walk leads from the public 
sidewalk to four wood porch steps. 
 
Jessie Dillard (African American) was the owner of record when a significant increase in 
property tax value occurred in 1890. Jessie Dillard (janitor, Lawrence Nat’l Bank Building) was 
listed at this location in 1890/91. In 1893/94 Jessie, his wife Fannie and Mary were the members 
of the Dillard family listed as residents. In 1896 Jessie Dillard was the only occupant listed as 
residing at this address. Jessie and Mary J. Dillard (tchr., Pinckney School) were listed from 
1898 to 1907 as residents of this address. In addition, Irene Dillard (student, KU) was listed in 
1905 and Lucile L. Dillard (student, KU) was listed in 1907. From 1911 to 1923 Jessie Dillard, 
his wife Frances (Fannie) and Mary J. Dillard were listed as residing at this address. In 1917 
Mary J. Dillard was listed as the Principal of Pinckney School. From 1926 to 1928 Miss Mary 
Dillard was the owner and the only occupant listed. In 1929/30 the Delta Sigma Theta Sorority, 
with Mary J. Dillard as the housemother, was listed at this location. The dwelling was recorded 
on the 1927 Sanborn Map. S.E. Standing was issued a building permit (#21668) for a porch 
addition on 5/10/1985. 



NPS Form 10-900-a                                     OMB No. 1024-0018 
(8-86) 
United States Department of the Interior 
National Park Service 
 
NATIONAL REGISTER OF HISTORIC PLACES 
CONTINUATION SHEET 
 
Section  _7__     Page  _39__                     Pinckney I Historic 
District 
                                                    Douglas County, Kansas 
______________________________________________________________________________
_________ 
 
 
49a. Garage, 520 Louisiana St., circa 1995, non-contributing. 
A one and a half story, gable front garage sheathed in clapboards sits on the NE corner of the 
property with an entrance located in the south elevation. 
 
50. John L. Weber Residence, 516 Louisiana St., circa 1884, contributing. 
The two story, end-gable, frame Folk House National dwelling sits on a concrete foundation. A 
low-pitched, full width porch supported by bracketed turned wood posts spans the façade. Porch 
column brackets form segmental arches. A brick walk leads from the public sidewalk to three 
concrete porch steps. A gravel driveway runs along the north edge of property.  
 
The property was recorded as unimproved in the 1873 Atlas of Douglas Co. A significant 
increase in the property tax value occurred in 1884 when the owner of record was S.W.H. 
Gardner. John L. Weber (trav. man) was listed as a resident in 1888 and 1890/91. In 1893/94 
Mrs. J.L. Weber (widow of John) and Helen Weber were listed as occupants. Amanda Weber 
(widow of John L.) was listed again from 1896 to 1911. Fredrick M. Weber (clk., Rowland & 
Stevenson) was listed as a resident in 1902/02 and 1905. In 1913/14 Emil Gauck (helper, 
Graeber Bros.) and his wife Tillie were listed as occupants. Fred W. Fein (Sanitary Plumbing, 
Heating & Gas Fittings, Electrician & Electrical Supplies, 929 Mass.) and his wife Estella were 
listed as residing at this address in 1915 and 1917. From 1919 to 1930 Albert A. Green (Green 
Bros. Hardware) and his wife Nattie J. were listed as occupying this dwelling. The dwelling was 
recorded on the 1927 Sanborn Map. Christopher Norment was issued a permit (#3678) to 
remodel the dwelling on 12/29/1989. 
 
50a. Garage, 516 Louisiana St., circa 1900, contributing. 
A side gabled, two story, shiplap joint siding covered outbuilding (possibly a former barn) is 
located on the NE corner of the property with entrances in the east and west elevations.  
 
51. Charles W. Grant Residence, 512 Louisiana St., circa 1884, contributing. 
The two story, hipped roof, frame Italianate dwelling sits on a rusticated stone foundation. A full 
width, low-pitched roof porch supported by tapered squared columns spans the façade. Brackets 
support the porch eaves. Clapboards sheathe the dwelling. Boxed eaves mark the roof-wall 
junction. A concrete walk leads from the public sidewalk to two porch steps.  
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The 1873 Atlas of Douglas Co. recorded the property as unimproved. L.A. Grant was the owner 
of record when a significant increase in property tax valuation occurred in 1884. Charles W. 
Grant was listed as occupying this location from 1886 to 1894. Grant’s occupations were: deputy 
district clk; clk., Southern Kansas Rail Road; and clk., Haskell Inst. In 1908/09 Frank G. Bates 
(instr., KU) and his wife Jessie were listed as residents. Dr. Carl Phillips (physician, surgeon, 2-4 
Fraternal Aid Bldg.) and his wife Maude were listed as occupants from 1911 to 1930. Dr. Carl 
Phillips was listed as the County Coroner in 1911. Hazel Phillips was listed as an occupant in 
1927/28. The dwelling was recorded on the 1927 Sanborn Map. Alten Bernd was issued a 
building permit (#20951) to remodel the dwelling on 10/28/1982. 
 
51a. Shed, 512 Louisiana St., circa 1960, non-contributing. 
Remnants of a one story, shed roof outbuilding are located on the NE corner of the property, 
covered with particleboard. 
 
52. Emory E. and Mabel E. Gore Residence, 508 Louisiana St., circa 1884, contributing. 
The two story, end-gable, frame Folk House National dwelling sits on a rusticated stone 
foundation. A low-pitched, full width porch supported by wood posts spans the dwelling. 
Clapboards sheath the dwelling. A one story, squared bay projects from the south elevation. 
Fenestration and doors retain their original placement. A brick walk leads from the public 
sidewalk to three concrete porch steps. 
 
The property was recorded as unimproved in the 1873 Atlas of Douglas Co. H.A. Gore was the 
owner of record in 1884 when a significant increase in property tax value occurred. Emory E. 
Gore (travel man) and Miss Mable E. Gore (music teacher) were listed as residents in 1886 and 
1888. Emory E. Gore was listed again from 1896 to 1905. The 1907 city directory listed E.E. 
Gore as having died on April 7, 1905 at the age of 81. Mrs. Harriet (wife of E.E.) was listed as an 
occupant from 1898 to 1905. From 1907 to 1915 George T. Dodds (travel agt.), his wife Louise 
S., and Carl J. Dodds (cashier, Citizens Light Heat & Power Co.) were listed as residing at this 
location. Carl J. Dodds (now mngr., Citizens Light Heat & Power Co.) and Mrs. Louise S. Dodds 
(widow of Charles T.) were listed at this location in 1917. From 1919 to 1930 Mrs. Louise S. 
Dodds (widow Charles T.) was listed as owner and occupant of this dwelling. The dwelling was 
recorded on the 1927 Sanborn Map. 
 
52a. Shed, 508 Louisiana St., circa 1940, contributing. 
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A one story, shed roofed, clapboard-sheathed outbuilding is located at the east edge of the 
property line. 
 
53. Thomas Dee, 504 Louisiana St., circa 1884, contributing. 
The two story, end-gable, brick Folk Victorian dwelling sits on a rusticated stone foundation. A 
full width, hipped roof porch supported by turned spindles with spandrel brackets spans the 
façade. A two story, hipped roof shingle sheathed addition projects from the north elevation. A 
two story, flat roof, clapboard sheathed addition projects from the south elevation. Concrete 
walks lead from the public sidewalk to four wood porch steps and along the south edge of house.  
 
The property was recorded as unimproved in the 1873 Atlas of Douglas Co. A significant 
increase in property tax value occurred in 1884 when Thomas Dee was the owner of record. 
Thomas Dee (residing as 805 Vermont) was listed as a brick mason in the 1886. In 1888 and 
1893/93 Thomas Dee (bricklayer), John F. Dee (bkpr., A L & I Co.) and Anna Dee were listed as 
occupants of this dwelling. Charles C. Emery was recorded as an occupant from 1896 to 1909. 
Eugene T. Emery (stockdealer/farmer) was listed as a resident in 1905 and 1908/09. Ida Marks 
was listed as the sole resident from 1911 to 1919. From 1923 to 1930 Joseph W. Murray (mng. 
Editor, Journal World) and his wife Agnes were listed as occupants and owners of this residence. 
The dwelling was recorded on the 1927 Sanborn Map. 
 
53a. Garage, 504 Louisiana St., circa 1928, contributing. 
A one story, end-gable, clapboard-sheathed garage is located on the SE corner of the property 
with an entrance in the east elevation. 
 
54. Charles H. Tucker Residence, 500 (502) Louisiana St., circa 1888, contributing. 
The one and a half story, cross gable, frame Folk Victorian dwelling sits on a rusticated stone 
foundation. A wood deck projects from the southwest corner of the façade. A central brick 
chimney pierces the roof. A shed roofed addition projects from the north elevation of the west 
gable projection. A flat-topped hipped addition projects from the east elevation. Clapboards 
sheathe the dwelling and shingles cover the gable ends. Exposed truss and bracketing is located 
in the gable ends.  
 
The 1872 Atlas of Douglas Co. recorded the property as unimproved. Charles H. Tucker was the 
owner of record when a significant increase in property tax value occurred in 1888. Charles H. 
Tucker (Andrews & Tucker, produce & commission, 1021 Mass.) was listed at 502 Louisiana in 
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1890/91 and 1893/94. Charles H., now clk. of the District Court, and his wife Mrs. Jessie M. 
Tucker were listed at 502 Louisiana from 1898 to 1903. In 1900/01 and 1902/03 Charles’ 
occupation was listed as cashier for Watkins National Bank. By 1908/09 Samuel M. Warren 
(asst. supt., Metropolitan Life Ins. Co.) and his wife Ann were listed at 500 Louisiana Street. 
John L. McCurdy (grocer, 828 Mass.) and his wife Estella E. were listed as occupants in 1911. 
There is no listing for this address in 1913/14. In 1917 Cameron D. Day (insurance agt.), his wife 
Jessie Day, and Cameron D. Day Jr. (student KU) were all residents of this address. Lucien B. 
Edgar (machinist, Edgar Steel Mnfg. Co.) and his wife Elizabeth C. were listed as occupants in 
1919. Other occupants include:  Major Samuel A. McKone (clk., P.O.), 1923 to 1930 (Samuel 
McKone was also listed as the owner during these dates); Maye McKone (wife of Samuel A.), 
1923 to 1930; Herbert S. McKone (student), 1925 to 1930; Samuel A. McKone Jr., 1929/30. The 
dwelling was recorded on the 1927 Sanborn Map. 
 
54a. Garage, 500 Louisiana St., circa 1920, contributing. 
A one story, front-gable, shiplap joint siding covered outbuilding is located in the SE corner of 
the property. 
 
500 BLOCK OF LOUISIANA STREET—WEST SIDE 
 
55. George J. Barker Residence, 501 Louisiana St., circa 1872, contributing. 
The one and a half story, cross gable, frame Gothic dwelling sits on a rusticated stone 
foundation. A low-pitched roof porch is located between the north and east gable projections. 
The porch is supported by tapered columns, which extend above the porch roof plane. A central 
brick chimney pierces the roof. Clapboards sheathe the dwelling. Gable ends have exposed 
trusses and decorative trim. A brick walk leads from the public sidewalk to four wood porch 
steps. 
 
A significant increase in property tax value occurred in 1872 when G.J. Barker was the owner of 
record. George J. Barker (Barker & Summerfield Lawyers and later Thatcher & Barker) was 
listed as residing on the southwest corner of Penn & Louisiana from 1865 to 1891. The dwelling 
was recorded in the 1873 Atlas of Douglas Co. under the ownership of J.G. Barker (lot numbers 
121 and 123). Mrs. Lucene A. Barker was also listed at this location in 1883 and 1893/94. Miss 
Frances Barker, Anna A. Barker, and Lawrence Barker were listed as occupants in 1893/94. By 
1907 Hugh Means (Barker & Means Lawyers, Opera House Bldg.) and his wife Francis B. were 
listed as occupants of 501 Louisiana. Hugh and Frances Means were again listed from 1908 to 
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1930. Hugh Means’ occupations during this time were: probate judge; lawyer with Means & 
Rice; vice-pres., World Co.; publisher, Journal Daily World; and Judge Fourth District Court. 
The dwelling was recorded on the 1927 Sanborn Map. 
 
56. Clark H. and Pearl B. Pringle Residence, 507 (509) Louisiana St., circa 1925, contributing. 
The one and a half story, front-gable, frame Craftsman dwelling sits on a stucco-covered 
foundation. A half width, gable roof porch supported by tapered wood piers on stucco piers 
projects from the façade. A central brick chimney pierces the roof. Clapboards sheathe the 
dwelling. A half story cross gable with exposed rafter tails projects from the roof center. A brick 
walk leads from the public sidewalk to three wood porch steps.  
 
There was no listing for this address in the 1923 city directory. Pearl B. Pringle was the owner of 
record when a significant increase in property tax valuation occurred in 1925. In 1925/26 and 
1927/28 Clark H. Pringle (Strong & Pringle Grocers, 547 Indiana) and his wife Pearl were listed 
at 509 Louisiana. The dwelling was recorded on the 1927 Sanborn Map. Edgar H. Jost 
(employee, Reuter Organ Co.) and his wife Fay were listed as occupants in 1929/30. 
 
56a. Garage, 507 Louisiana St., circa 1925, contributing. 
A one story, end-gable, clapboard-sheathed garage is located on the south property line with 
entrances in the east and west elevations. 
 
57. Harold Hiff Residence, 511 Louisiana St., circa 1914, non-contributing. 
The one and a half story, front-gable, frame Craftsman dwelling sits on a rusticated stone 
foundation. A gable addition projects from the north half of the façade. A shed roof porch 
projects from the south elevation of the addition. The porch is supported at the southeast corner 
by a wood post. Clapboards sheathe the dwelling. A brick terrace is located in front of the 
dwelling. 
 
The property was recorded as unimproved in the 1873 Atlas of Douglas Co. A significant 
increase in property tax value occurred in 1914 when Sarah A. Wheeler was the owner of record. 
Harold Hiff was listed at this location in 1914. In 1915 Herman H. Conwell (instructor), his wife 
Mary R. and Herman H. Conwell (student) were listed at this address. Guy S. Richards (clk., 
Bowersock Mills & Power Co.) and his wife Lois were listed as residents in 1917. Other 
occupants include: W.E. Craig Kennedy (agt., N.W. Mutual Life Ins. Co.) and his wife Jessie E., 
1919; Arthur K. Meyer (sales, Otto A. Fischer) and his wife Beala, 1923; Mrs. Mannie Button 
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(widow of James) and Charles M. Button (farmer), 1925/26; George Oleson (student), 1927/28; 
Emil B. Dade (instructor, KU), 1929/30. The dwelling was recorded on the 1927 Sanborn Map. 
 
57a. Garage, 511 Louisiana St., 1982, non-contributing. 
A one and a half story, front-gable, clapboard-sheathed garage is located on the west property 
line with an entrance in the east elevation. Construction is indicated by a building permit 
(#18112) issued to Jim Sneegas on 6/17/1982. 
 
58. Albert Hadley Residence, 519 Louisiana St., circa 1865, contributing. 
The one and a half story, end-gable, brick Folk House National dwelling sits on a rusticated 
stone foundation. A full width, hipped roof porch supported by square wood columns spans the 
façade. Exposed rafter tails are located under the porch eaves. Half windows are located under 
the eaves of the façade. An L-shaped brick and frame one-story addition projects from the west 
elevation. A brick walk leads from the public sidewalk to wood porch step. 
 
The tax records of 1865 indicate that there was a structure on this property. In 1865 the owner of 
record was listed as unknown. A. Hadley was the owner of record in 1867. There was no listing 
for Albert Hadley in the 1860/61 city directory. Albert Hadley (bkpr., National Bank) and W. 
Hadley (pres., National Bank) were listed as residing on the west side of Louisiana between 
Pinckney & Penn (5th St.)  in 1866. Albert Hadley was again listed from 1871 to 1883. In 1883 
Mrs. Mary T. Hadley, Miss Meda Hadley and Fred W. Hadley were also listed as residents. The 
dwelling was recorded in the 1873 Atlas of DG Co. under the ownership of A. Hadley (listed as 
lot 129). By 1893/94 W.S. Meyers was listed as the occupant of this address. Herbert V. Bullock 
(comp. and later propr., Bullock Book & Job Printing, Fraternal Aid Bldg.) and his wife Martha 
O. were listed as occupants from 1902 to 1919. Edwin A. Bullock (pressman, Bullock Printing 
Co.) was also listed at address from 1908 to 1915. Other occupants include: Fred W. Kahn 
(prop., Lawrence Battery & Service Station) and his wife Opal H., 1923; Richard A. Jones and 
his wife Emma A., 1925/26; Mrs. Augusta Phillips (widow of E.D.F.), 1927/28; Daniel D. 
Hornaday and his wife Bertie J., 1929/30. The dwelling was recorded on the 1927 Sanborn Map. 
 
58a. Garage, 519 Louisiana St., 1990, non-contributing. 
A two story, T1-11 siding covered garage is located in the SW corner of the property. 
Fenestration is placed in the second story gable ends. A building permit (#4930) was issued to 
James Sneegas on 9/11/1990 for a garage. 
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59. Robert C. Manley Residence, 523 Louisiana St., circa 1885, contributing. 
The two and a half story, hipped with cross gable, frame Queen Anne dwelling sits on a 
rusticated stone foundation. A full width, hipped porch supported by square wood columns spans 
the façade. A cross gable projects from the north end of the porch roof above the porch steps. A 
central brick chimney pierces the roof. A full one-story addition is located on the west elevation. 
Clapboards sheathe the dwelling. A concrete walk leads from the public sidewalk to three brick 
porch steps. A gravel driveway runs along the north elevation. 
 
The property was recorded as unimproved in the 1873 Atlas of Douglas Co. Emma R. Osborn 
was the owner of record when a significant increase in property tax value occurred in 1885. 
Myron G. Manley (pres., Missouri Valley Land Co.) and R.C. Manley (clk., G.J. Barker and later 
notary of public, 746 Mass) were listed at this location in 1890/91 and 1893/94. Henry C. 
Stebbins was the owner of record in 1905. George F. Leonard (organizer, Fraternal Aid Assn & 
later travel agt.), his wife Maude and Lucille M. Leonard (student, KU) were listed as residents 
in 1907, 1908/09, and 1911. George H. Leonard (electrician) was also listed as a resident in 
1908/09 and 1911. By 1913/14 Mrs. Maude Leonard (widow of Geor.) and Lucille M. Leonard 
(society editor, Lawrence Gazette) were the only occupants listed. Other occupants include:  
Willard D. Givin (stkman) and his wife Louisa, 1915; Charles W, Hemhill (mngr., Hemphill 
Land Co.), his wife Barbara and Ruth S. Hemphill, 1919 to 1930; Chester A. Hemphill (student, 
KU), 1923 to 1928; Gladys Hemphill, 1927/28; Thelma (student) and Thornton (student) 
Hemphill, 1929/30. The dwelling was recorded on the 1927 Sanborn Map. Walter Boeth was 
issued two building permits:  (1) #4481 was issued on 5/6/1964 to close in the back porch and (2) 
#7001 was issued on 10/11/1968 for a porch cover. Jack Collins was issued a building permit 
(#26337) for an addition to the dwelling on 8/9/1988. 
 
59a. Garage, 523 Louisiana St., circa 1955, non-contributing. 
A one story, side-gable, concrete block garage is located on the NW corner of the property. 
Asbestos siding covers the gable ends.  
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60. J. Leroy Frazier Residence, 531 Louisiana St., circa 1909, contributing. 
One and a half story, end-gable, frame Folk House National dwelling on rusticated stone 
foundation. A full width, hipped porch supported by Tuscan columns spans façade. Wall dormers 
project from north and south roof slopes. Clapboards sheathe house and shingles sheathe gable 
peaks. 
 
The property was recorded as unimproved in the 1873 Atlas of Douglas Co. A significant 
increase in property tax value occurred in 1909 when Ionia B. Russell was the owner of record. 
In 1911 J. Leroy Frazier (foreman, World Co.) and his wife Frances were listed at this location. 
Wm. H. Weber (grocer, 547 Indiana) and his wife Margaret were listed as occupants in 1913/14. 
In 1915 Benjamin V. Griffin (agt., Kansas City, Kaw Valley & Western Ry.) and his wife 
Elizabeth were listed as occupants. Lucien B. Edgar (mach operator, Edgar Steel Co.) and his 
wife Elizabeth were residing at this address in 1923. In 1925/26 and 1927/28 Clarence D. 
Dahlene (bkpr., Merchants Nat’l Bank) and his wife Marguerite (clk., Lawrence Steam Laundry) 
were listed as occupants. The dwelling was listed as vacant in 1929/30. The dwelling was 
recorded on the 1927 Sanborn Map. All Seasons Ins. was issued a building permit (#21394) to 
remodel the dwelling on 3/8/1985. 
 
61. J. Frank and Sarah Jones Residence, 533 Louisiana St., circa 1902, contributing. 
The two story, hipped with extended cross gable in façade, frame Queen Anne dwelling sits on a 
rusticated stone foundation. A full width, hipped porch supported by turned spindles spans the 
façade and runs along the south elevation. Spandrels and brackets are located under the porch 
eaves. Clapboards sheathe the dwelling and shingles sheathe the gable ends. A roof pent is 
placed in the façade gable. A concrete walk leads from the public sidewalk to three concrete 
porch steps. 
 
The 1873 Atlas of Douglas Co. recorded the property as unimproved. A significant increase in 
property tax value occurred in 1902 when Iona B. Russell (widow of Edward) was the owner of 
record. From 1905 to 1914, J. Frank Jones (mngr., Mt. Hope Nurseries & later A.C. Giesa 
Nursery and Griesa & Jones Nursery) and his wife Sarah were listed as residing at this address. 
Charles S. Gaumer, his wife Lucie, and Vidilla Gaumer (student) were occupants in 1915. In 
1923 William Zweifel (pipe maker, Reuter Organ Co.) and his wife Emma were residing at this 
location. The dwelling was recorded as vacant in 1925/26. Everett E. Bunn (mechanic, Endaly 
Bus Garage) and his wife Mary E. were residents in 1927/28. The dwelling was recorded on the 
1927 Sanborn Map. The dwelling was recorded as vacant in 1929/30. 
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